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  [9.35 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Good morning and happy New Year to everybody. 
 
MR RADICH:   Happy New Year. 5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And welcome back. 
 
MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir. 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   Just one issue, Ms Dewey, you had indicated that you did not 

wish to speak to your submissions, but now I understand, is she here or 
not?  Well, there was an indication she did not want to speak and then 
an indication she did and a document was filed quite unhelpfully a 
lengthy document at 4.55 yesterday, which we are somehow meant to 15 
sensibly deal with today.  Can you help us?  Is the Crown in-? 

 
MR RADICH:   I can help to this extent, sir.  I had a conversation by telephone 

with Ms Dewey yesterday, and she had indicated that she would be 
likely to come into the room as it were to be of assistance if she could 20 
so that may yet happen. 

 
 That document, if I can assist, is effectively the same document, well it 

is the same document that was filed, I think I’m right in saying this, 
towards the end of the hearing process last year. 25 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   The Crown was to go away and talk to Te Rūnanga about 

some of the changes that had been suggested to see if they addressed 30 
the Crown’s concerns that it had raised earlier, and the position on that 
is that it does, in fact, in every case address the concerns.  They were 
just those small issues about the effect of the Treaty- - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   I think the Panel had the slightly broader issue that we need to 35 

discuss is whether those, a lot of those matters belong in strategic 
direction or as a glossary or appendix to strategic directions, because 
some of it seems to be assertions which are relating to facts that are 
contested and have not yet even been determined, so we may have to 
submit questions to her later on.  We will see where we get to, but 40 
thank you for that, Mr Radich. 

 
MR RADICH:   If I can just add, sir, a lot of the information that was the 

subject of discussion with the Crown was in the introduction section, so 
this document starts off with an introduction and, in fact, those parts 45 
haven’t really been directly the subject of this hearing and I think in 
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fairness Te Rūnanga said at the beginning that they appreciated that 
and they were wanting to have this information in now and I think only 
limited material relates to strategic directions and to the extent that it’s 
objectives and policies material I think it is overtaken by subsequent 
events and the expert conferencing. 5 

 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, well we can follow that up as and if we need to, 

thank you for that. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, sir. 10 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Bartlett you can be first cab off the rank. 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Thank you, sir. 
 15 
 I’ll speak briefly to my submission and then comment, sir, on some of 

the material that has come in since, particularly on behalf of Council. 
 
 I must say it is very helpful having the chance to do a reply, rather than 

just a swinging door appearance at the beginning. 20 
 
 The general submission still relates to basic issues, sir, of the kind that 

lay panels frequently get wrong in these hearings.  It’s terrific that 
we’ve got a qualified Panel in the first instance, that it’s not about 
politics and that you will address the issues, rather than come up with 25 
fudged formulas, which make everybody feel that you’ve identified 
them. 

 
 So I just, if this is to be a fast-tracked process, and an efficient plan, it 

is going to need a better approach from what Councils have historically 30 
taken.  So when we talk about the CBD as the principal focus, we and 
subsequent decision makers, need to know what you meant, because 
there are many ways of interpreting that. 

 
 In the old Kiwi town sense, it probably meant the retail centre for the 35 

region, and I talked to you previously about the difference between 
amenity and nostalgia, so we need as much as you can give us in 
identification of principal focus and from my client’s point of view 
what that means in relation to retail. 

 40 
  [9.40 am] 
 
 It can’t mean 50% or more.  It may not even mean the biggest single 

retail centre in the region.  But we need to be in a position, sir and 
members of the Committee, that when my client or others make 45 
Resource Consent Applications, or seek private plan changes, that the 
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then decision makers, and I can say this, who won’t be as well qualified 
as yourselves, shouldn’t have to be archaeologists to go back through 
the 17 tonnes of paper to find out what you meant by “principal focus” 
if that’s the term you used. 

 5 
 My client has offered some commentary first round, where it talked 

about the huge advantages central Christchurch will always have in 
terms of being in the centre, the commercial centre, arts, culture, 
commerce, entertainment, all of those things and compared that with 
the suburban centres which are frequently based on retail only and 10 
which don’t make any claim to be full centres. 

 
 My client’s position in relation to, for instance, concerns about office 

development, they couldn’t care less about being able to build offices 
in the KACs, for the simple reason that it costs just as much to build 15 
them there, new ones, under the new construction requirements and 
they’ll earn half the rent a similar building would get in the CBD. 

 
 So one positive thing you might think about, and I don’t know if this is 

the submission to hang it off, is it would be very easy to put to bed any 20 
concerns about that kind of commercial centre developing in the KACs 
– it’s not practical, there’s no signs of it happening, I think you’d find 
that Westfield and the others would be saying the same thing. 

 
 So we’re talking about the different flavours and I guess one of my 25 

concerns, and I’ll get to that when I come to Mr Winchester’s 
submission, is the extent to which you are being asked by Council 
witnesses to protect from retail competition potential retail 
development, and obviously I’m going to be asking you to draw the 
line there. 30 

 
 The other expression that I have got in my fourth bullet point is the role 

and function of the central city.  Okay, I think that should be 
articulated.  Later on there are references, and again in the Council 
evidence to the KACs maintaining their role, again, we don’t want to 35 
be in the hands of the particular Hearings Panel in the future. 

 
 And I can say this without offence I’m sure to the two of you who are 

judges, we don’t want to be in the hands of the political views of the 
particular judge, or the local views of the particular judge at the time as 40 
to the role and function of the central city, because it means you’re 
starting back from first principles that no one’s right and nobody’s 
wrong, and once more you’ve got a clumsy process. 

 
 So we do need precision and to have confidence that you’re able to 45 

give it. 
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 I’ve made some notes in the material filed on some of the details of 

drafting of the first round of caucusing, some of it is merely detail, but I 
think the agreed principle that I’ve referred to in my paragraph five is 
important because all of a sudden we’ve got some wording there that 5 
enables future applicants or decision makers a KAC door to avoid 
dealing with what you’re about to resolve; namely the broad objectives 
and policies. 

 
 And I think this is a very bold statement, I hope it’s not yours, the plan 10 

is to be read as a whole the broad objectives and policies need to be 
considered alongside any zone or activity’s specific objectives and 
policies, no statutory hierarchy is intended 

 
  [9.45 am] 15 
 
 Now, that’s all right as long as those zone specific objectives and 

policies are consistent with the higher order things, but at the moment, 
in saying that there’s no hierarchy intended, it means we all scramble 
around in the future on first principles with in justiciable methods 20 
basically, which guidance is needed. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Could I put it to you this way, Mr Bartlett, that in terms of a 

hierarchy we are not talking about a pyramid, but what you are talking 
about is more like a family tree, so strategic directions is mum and dad, 25 
and then there’s a line underneath that drops down to each of the 
children, which are the chapters to come, and mum and dad inform all 
of the children? 

 
MR BARTLETT:   You would think, yes. 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Is that a reasonable way of summarising the way you see the 

strategic directions chapter operating? 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes, and nobody should run off with the milkman and say 35 

“No, I’m not actually connected up there, I came in from the side”, we 
don’t want that. That’s a fairly crude - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   This analogy could go a long way. 
 40 
MR BARTLETT:   No, I think we should probably put it in there, but, yes, 

that’s right. So of course you can have specific things, but in setting it 
up there has got to be some providence, some genes have got to flow 
down, otherwise people can say “Oh, let’s make up our own first 
principles today on this private plan change”. 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   So the language would need to be tight, and I do not pretend 
for a moment that this would be, “But it’s something along” – not 
inconsistent with strategic directions? 

 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes.  5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   As I say, it would need some refining, but - - - 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes, give effect to might be too strong, but obviously I 

prefer it, but as long – there’s got to be some, we would not be doing 10 
strategic directions first if clearly there was not a consensus that that is 
the mum and dad of everything else. 

 
 So I was just worried that people, that that was the beginning, and 

again those of you, and I’m sure Judge Hassan will be sympathetic on 15 
this, we spend too much time trying to work out what somebody meant 
10 years ago when they drafted what they thought was a clever 
compromised document that was politically safe, which is why I am 
happy that you are not worried about those sorts of things, but we do 
get it and it’s a – this process is an experiment, namely having a high 20 
powered first instance hearing, it means everything goes through the 
same test because another problem we get in plan changes, the stuff 
that goes to the higher courts is quite random, depending on who can 
appeal, who can afford to appeal. So frequently you can end up with a 
very shaggy, new district plan and it’s shaggy because the skilled 25 
decision-makers have only been dealt with bits by invitation on the 
random appeals.  

 
 You have the ability to draw it all in and actually come up with as tight 

a document as we have seen, and I believe we can avoid some of these 30 
problems of the past, because you know the difference between a 
question and an answer. If you read some of the planners speak, they 
dress up these grand conclusions about balance, terrific, if they’d say 
what it is. People who talk like that are presenting questions as 
answers; they are not answers at all, they are objectives.  35 

 
 Now, just roughly going through the other bits and pieces, in my 

paragraph 8 I say that ‘prescriptiveness’ has been given a bit of a bad 
name. 

 40 
 My clients, conservative corporates, such as AMP, they just want to 

know what the rules are, they’re not actually interested in rorting the 
system. They have very formal structures, very formal approaches to 
risk assessment. They want to know when they’re buying a piece of 
land what’s a realistic aspiration for it, because ultimately prescriptive 45 
rules and other rules filter down to that basic decision. I can’t give them 
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advice on the due diligence, nor can anyone else, if you have got a 
fluffy district plan which puts everything in the pot for whoever the 
future decision-maker has to be. 

 
 So they would go with prescriptive every time, as long as it was 5 

prescriptive based on intelligent and fair assessment, not capricious and 
a lot of standards in district plans are prescriptive, but they’re 
prescriptive based on our accumulated knowledge. 

 
 So it’s been given a bad rap, I am here for prescriptive to a reasonable 10 

level, leaving everything open again makes the process slow and 
clumsy and capricious because it is dependent on value judgements by 
whoever the final decision-maker is. 

 
  [9.50 am] 15 
 
 In my paragraph 13 and 14 I refer to these difficult expression of the 

planners, ‘primary community focal point’ and ‘KACs as the major 
secondary community focal point’. Now, if we don’t know what that 
means, who else is going to know what it means in the future? What 20 
are their roles? 

 
 You have got my client, or Westfield, or Kiwi, with a shopping centre, 

generally selling the same goods as the CBD, multiplex’s showing the 
same movies, a few other different features. Do the things that make 25 
the CBD primary have anything to do with retail? And I think the good 
news is, “No”, because as I say it’s always going to be the cultural 
centre, going to have the art gallery, with all respect to my client’s 
shopping centres, the CBD is always going to be prettier than any 
shopping centre. 30 

 
 It will have these key commercial features, so do you need to limit 

development of retail around the region if in fact those primary 
components are already locked into the CBD and guaranteed through 
the recovery, for instance the large amount of government expenditure 35 
to bring workers in for the justice precinct and whatever. 

 
 Finally, on my feel good theme, we’ve got to recognise and provide for 

the role of neighbourhood and local centres in providing for the needs 
of local communities. Now, does that mean bread and milk or does it 40 
mean lawnmowers? Again local communities are terrific buzz words 
that planners talk about, are the retail needs of a local community any 
different from any other kind of community, and I have suggested they 
are right up there wanting lawnmowers, computers, clothes, pianos, and 
brain surgery, just like anyone else. 45 
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 So it’s a fuzzy expression, and I am asking you to invite Council to say 
what it means. If they’re going to restrict the range of goods in local 
centres, that might be prescriptive, but it would at least be clear. 

 
 I just now would like to ask you if you would have a look at my friend 5 

Mr Winchester’s submission, which obviously I hadn’t seen at the time 
of filing mine, but which is – and I am looking in particular at his page 
14, 5.2.1, and I am not going to discuss the proper spelling of 
complimentary because people have been getting that wrong for 
centuries, even Gilbert and Sullivan had comments to make on that. 10 

 
 This is a quote from Mr Heath through Mr Winchester, “I think there 

was a question earlier today about the complimentary versus competing 
nature of the centres and the CBD”. Now, in terms of retail the opposite 
of being competitive is being non-competitive, it’s not complimentary. 15 
You know, is a Whitcoulls at Northlands complimentary to a 
Whitcoulls in the CBD or a multiplex showing the same movies? What 
does it mean? Complimentary, I think with an “E”, meaning to 
complete the whole, means they have different themes. 

 20 
 He goes on to say “Complimentary to me relates to enabling suburban 

centres to fulfil their role and function in the market”, again big 
exclamation mark, undefined. And I’m saying do we park that up into 
the future for some hapless decision-makers and appellant judges to 
sort out, or can we say what it is? 25 

 
 And then again “But not to a point or a level where it starts to 

undermine the CBD or the recovery”, so again do we have the means – 
supposing my client wants to add 10,000 square metres at the Styx 
Centre, and that’s going to be maybe Pak’n Save want a bit or 30 
Woolworths or somebody, or it might be a new entrant. Are we going 
to analyse whether that extra square meterage is going to undermine 
whatever plans other people might have – what is the mechanism? 

 
  [9.55 am] 35 
 
 It seems to put an enormous, it pushes the whole question out to the 

future, and it gives total lack of certainty in terms of planning, land 
acquisition and funding. So when somebody says “But not to a point 
where it starts to undermine”, again a person is presenting what looks 40 
like an answer, but it’s a question and it’s no use. 

 
 And then it talks about the balancing of this approach- - -  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bartlett, just interrupt you there. In order to make 45 

judgements on that, evidence is required on, for the Panel isn’t it?  



 Page 1159 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 07.01.15 

Effectively evidence on if there are choices to be made, and I think 
your submission is they should not be left to decision makers at a 
resource consent stage? 

 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes. 5 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But what about this Panel at a consideration of later 

proposals stage?  In other words- - - 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes, well this is a preliminary, the main event is still the 10 

specific controls applying to the Styx Centre, and that’s sometime out 
in April and we will be providing some more useful evidence on that. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Later in the inquiry? 
 15 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And so there is another proposition there, isn’t there, that 

wording and strategic directions could be put in a way which shows 
direction that these choices are intended to be made at that stage of the 20 
inquiry into this replacement plan, rather than left to a consent?  Would 
you agree with that, or? 

 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes, I think that’s helpful, but I guess what I am leading to 

is what Mr Winchester has got in bold, “Must complement rather than 25 
directly compete”, now it’s very difficult to live with that. Shopping 
centres compete one with the other. Individual stores compete on price, 
location, credit terms, range of goods, car parking, shelter from the 
rain; so I am most apprehensive that the proposition that retailing 
should not be competitive with other retailing, slips into this plan. 30 

 
 And I have got to say, right back to my first theme at my first 

submission whenever it was, this is not, this does not have any 
provenance in the regional planning documents and I think there’s 
some staff capture gone on here, because this strong wording here does 35 
not reflect the regional documents, it does not reflect the plan as 
notified. 

 
 I am not even sure it represents a submission that anybody’s lodged 

asking if it would do anything, and I am most concerned that in their 40 
perhaps ‘enthusiasm’ for the cause, Mr Heath and others, have got onto 
their private agendas and have forgotten what is in the regional 
documents where the KACs and the CBD sit together and what was in 
the plan as notified. 

 45 
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 So I might be punching at shadows, there may be no worry here, but 
presumably there’s been put in bold because somebody wants to protect 
the CBD from retail competition, and I am saying that does not fit my 
understanding of the RMA and does not, I do not think there is any 
evidence to say that that intervention is required to support the 5 
recovery. 

 
 I might be pushing my time, so you will tell me when, won’t you, 

Mr Chair? 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   Well there’s – a number of people have dropped out and 

relying on submissions, so we have been somewhat more lenient time 
wise with everybody. 

 
MR BARTLETT:   So I accept, Judge, that in a private plan change for a major 15 

resource consent application, the identity of the retailer may be 
relevant. 

 
 But again, all right, supposing, and this is absolutely hypothetical and 

not any clear agenda, supposing a (INDISTINCT 05.00) central city, 20 
survival central city department fashion store decided to set up a 
branch. 

 
  [10.00 am] 
 25 
 That would be based on a decision by those owners that they could 

operate two stores. There would be an element of expanding the 
market, but also an element of competition, because the one reason that 
many people might still shop in the CBD occasionally is to go to that 
particular store. 30 

 
 Now, again, do you feel that that is your issue?  Is it planning’s issue to 

get into that?  Is any undermining – Is any diversion of retail 
expenditure from the CBD to be avoided at all costs?  Who measures 
it?  And then the question is where does that sit in the context of the 35 
recovery which has got so many components to it, apart from retail. 

 
 And again, when we get into the more detailed submissions we will be 

trying to see what the mechanism is; what has been the effect or what 
would be the effect of the continuing expansion of shopping centres – 40 
not just my clients – on the recovery there should not be an assumption 
that putting the noose around one or two of them is going to 
automatically result in that retail popping up in the CBD, because so 
much of the stuff in these shopping centres is generic – your 
Whitcoulls, Hallensteins, Stevens, all of that stuff – national retailers 45 
who are represented in the central area as well as in the satellites. 
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 Does planning need to control that? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it does if there are consequential effects, does not it? 
 5 
MR BARTLETT:   Well it depends whether we are talking about – I think it is 

scale of effects, Sir. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes- - - 
 10 
MR BARTLETT:   But again and whether we have got – unfortunately the 

closest analysis of all of this was in the, what we call a tumbleweed 
case, don’t we, of discount brands in Auckland, and that was a 
notification one, so we haven’t got a, in terms of what the current 
standard is, and I would accept as a matter of jurisdiction that given 15 
your frame of reference you may well have more latitude under your 
special legislation, but it would still in my submission have to be a 
significant risk – not to retail – but to the recovery and to the extent that 
retail is in a fairly small area of the new area, retail itself hangs off the 
recovery. 20 

 
 And again that is the thesis from the evidence that has been put in 

previously – your retail in the CBD is supported by tourists and again 
no shopping centre is ever going to take on that role, supported by 
tourists, your working force and there is a strong view that getting the 25 
working force up and running in the CBD is going to be the best thing 
to lift retail. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that Mr Colgrave’s evidence? 
 30 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes, because you are going to have that captive population- 

- -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   That and the residential. 
 35 
MR BARTLETT:   And the residential – if the figure is, and the figure might 

well be more 20,000 if you look how much space there is. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   You are concerned that this does not amount to your nostalgia 

point; turning back history to where the CBD was the primary retail 40 
centre? 

 
MR BARTLETT:   Indeed. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And (INDISTINCT 3.42) had failed and anyone else was 45 

going to fail you would say? 
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MR BARTLETT:   Yes, and the other point is it bad, is it, you know, we, in 

terms of where we sell stuff, we expect schools and churches and day 
cares and petrol stations to be where people are. If we go back to David 
Shepherd’s comment in that page I handed you up last time about 5 
people deciding on what they think is best for their sustainable activity 
or whatever. 

 
 The recovery of the CBD is important – to what extent do you create 

inconvenience in terms of not allowing retail to be where the people are 10 
and there do seem to be, this idea that the CBD should be protected at 
all costs – firstly implies this causation thing, and who knows what the 
direct relationship is, but secondly, why is it that retailing, of all things, 
should be limited? 

 15 
 I mean you had a cathedral, okay, in a sense of primacy that cathedral 

and its placement are the prime, the focus of worship in the area, it does 
not stop suburban churches, and of course there are people who go to 
suburban churches who would otherwise go to the cathedral if the 
suburban church wasn’t there. Does that mean we made a mistake 20 
letting them have churches in the suburbs? Of course it does not. It 
means they can go where they please. And these rules are to serve us, 
not the other way around. 

 
  [10.05 am] 25 
 
 So I am asking for a lot, judge, I am asking for certainty, but also 

acknowledging that there is an exercise of judgement somewhere along 
the way. We want to make sure that this panel does things as clearly as 
it can, to the extent it then has to push stuff down the stream to the 30 
ultimate decision makers. So there is a degree of clarity about that, but 
it does not involve going back to the first principle all over again and 
varying standards from varying decision makers about possible degrees 
of impact on retail 

 35 
 And again, I am putting the question as an answer too, because I do not 

know the whole answer.  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and just in terms of this, coming back to that earlier 

question, if you go back to Mr Colegrave’s evidence, but not to criticise 40 
Mr Colegrave, but it would be fair to say, would it not, that 
Mr Colegrave and the other evidence on this whole question of the 
choices between the central city and the centres, for instance, is 
relatively thin at this stage for the panel. 

 45 
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MR BARTLETT:   Yes, and the mechanism is difficult. And the one thing I 
have tried to do here and tried to do on (INDISTINCT 1.37), for 
heaven’s sake, get some retailers along saying, “Our decision to go to 
the Styx Centre, or Northlands, has got nothing to do with our decision 
to go to the central area or to close in the central area”, and you cannot 5 
get anybody to stand up because they do not have to and you are not 
going to subpoena the un-briefed witness. 

 
 But in terms of the mechanisms, the evidence is sparse because the 

research is sparse. So then we have to say, well, okay, if we assume – I 10 
mean clearly if there were no shopping centres around Christchurch, 
there would have been the reduction in percentage in the central area 
would not have been anywhere like what we have seen. 

 
 But the question is still is that adverse? In terms of sustainability, yes it 15 

is a bad thing. I think the figures that Colegrave produced to you show 
that the Auckland CBD is about six per cent of general retail in 
Auckland now.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But again, that evidence is quite thin, is it not, for 20 

instance, Mr Colegrave was not aware of how that compares with the 
Wellington situation, with a significant number of inner city residential. 
And one looks at the Christchurch CBD in the future. It is not what was 
in the past, it is on a premise that there will be 20,000 new additional 
people in the central city area? 25 

 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes, but in all I think that what we can say about the 

Auckland thing, just in isolation, we know it was not always six per 
cent. And I think you have tracked it down. The fact is, as it is changed 
and become more entertainment, food and beverage and as the kind of 30 
retails change, because I mean the downtown is tourist shops, you 
know, Paua shell ashtrays and woolly pulleys, all that stuff, generic, 
plus the generic high-end duty free things that you see when you get off 
the ship anywhere. None of that is actually playing at local consumers 
or the general bulk of local consumers. It is a function of a tourist 35 
driven central area.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But one cannot assume what happens in Auckland works 

south of the Bombay Hills? 
 40 
MR BARTLETT:   One might think – and this is anecdotal – I, certainly pre-

earthquake the – and I have acted for a number of tourist retailers in 
Christchurch. Tourist retailing was very, very strong. And in terms of 
the number of stores supported, the proximity of the hotels. So for once 
I will not be ashamed of being an Aucklander. I think Christchurch will 45 
be strong in future. I do not know what – the hotels are coming back, 
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but again, if we are going to ration retail opportunity in the suburbs, are 
we going to say what people are expected to come to town for? Some 
might come to town once a year for the Ballantynes’ sale. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, some might live in town, 20,000 - - -  5 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Some might live in town. And I think that is going to be a 

real strength. And I have not got the numbers, I do not know if anyone 
has. But simply it seems to me the only control that you or the Council 
has is ultimately land area available for centres, land area and I guess 10 
floor area ratio. And so you talked a bit about that intensity thing in 
previous hearings. 

 
  [10.10 am] 
 15 
 I thought that was rather pointless, with respect, because the ultimate 

issue is what square meterage and what kind of retail. Whether it is 
spread out or stacked up there is not a lot of difference, and I think your 
experience would be that in suburban centres it is very hard to make 
anything above two stories work. 20 

 
 So you have got a sense of that maximum but is planning going to get 

down to the point of saying: “These are the things you shall buy locally 
and these are the things you shall buy in town because we think it 
would be good for you to come into town to buy certain things.” 25 

 
 I think that is completely over the top, I do not think it fits individual’s 

definitions of their sustainability and wellbeing, and what are we doing 
it for? 

 30 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well that third point goes back to why one regulates for 

retail distribution, doesn’t it, and if there are strategic reasons to do so 
then they can be done. Retail distribution policies are expressed in a 
number of parts of the country in district plans. 

 35 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes. Indeed, sir. I think the first question on retail 

distribution is location. I think you might remember in the early 70s 
Margaret Thatcher ruined High Street in a number of towns by letting 
people put shopping centres in cheap paddocks just out of down and 
that was seen as the epitome of the market gone mad.  40 

 
 We had a similar thing, you might well recall, you would I am sure, the 

Upper Hutt exercise a few years ago where someone was going to do 
the same thing and got bowled. I think the most effective control 
planning has is the location of the centres and that is done at regional 45 
level. So if at regional level we are identifying the KACs defining them 
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and giving them their locations and size, we are already protected from 
the biggest risk of the worst excess of people going on and getting a 
favourable zoning on dirt cheap land just off centre.  

 
 So I think that fairly regulates, but having done that for instance, Styx 5 

Centre is 9.2 hectares. Net to gross you would lose; there is estimated 
reserve to be lost there, the shape factors a bit woolly. There might be 
some accommodation. So there is probably about 7 hectares available. 
So if I have got a client that says “Well look we have got this 7 
hectares, we have got a plan, we know where we are going, we have 10 
got a planning provision that says we can build up to around 40,000 
square metres”. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is the third component? 
 15 
MR BARTLETT:   Sorry? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So the third component you mention is the floor area 

restriction? 
 20 
MR BARTLETT:   Well, yes. The floor area restriction but that is done I think 

I am saying for all the wrong reasons. That is actually why we are here 
because here is my client wanting to do a comprehensive plan for its 9 
hectare site. It has got a plan that is going to make it virtually 
impossible to get over 45,000. That includes 12,000 of office that it 25 
does not want and would happily surrender.  

 
 And it is just we would like the ability to master plan the site, develop 

it incrementally over the next 10 or 15 years but at least from the point 
of view of a master plan, not from the point of view of a cap that came 30 
out of a planning process.  

 
 And so they are saying the other thing that you will hear more directly 

when we get into the detail is because these are conservative 
institutions and are totally tenant lead. It is only when Hallensteins or 35 
Whitcoulls or Briscoes or somebody says, “We are going to sign up”. 
and they get to about 80 or 90 percent that actually anything ever 
happens because they have other centres that they do not want to 
wreck. So while I am not asking you to bow and pray in front of the 
market as some divine thing, it does actually work in this area. 40 

 
 You have got a few players as I say they are conservative. The numbers 

are big, they are just totally tenant driven, never speculative and I say 
the degree of self-interest in terms of preserving their other centres is 
every bit as, which of course are generally, sir, closer to the CBD. 45 
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 Now it is hard to put that in some sort of planning document. It is the 
commercial reality and the thing is, well, do we not trust that? Do we 
have to do this incrementally in 5,000 square metre bytes through a 
planning process to justify, on this wording, not the slightest harm to 
the CBD, not the slightest reduction, let alone a reduction that may 5 
have a significant adverse effect in terms of the discount brands 
language. 

 
  [10.15 am] 
 10 
 I am getting into the detail of our next round. You have been very 

patient with me this morning, which I am grateful, are there any other 
questions, sir? 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I just actually had one which was off – I wanted to get 15 

your view on something which doesn’t arise from your submissions, 
but arises from the Council’s submissions. It is on this question of 
notification under the Act and paraphrasing the Council’s submissions 
at 7.8, if you can just perhaps go to 7.8 of the Council’s submissions 
please – I am going to test other counsel on this as well.  20 

 
 So at 7.8, there’s a submission that the notification tests in the Act are 

prescribed in those relevant sections. It goes on to say based on the 
adverse effects, it should say on the environment of the activity being 
considered, and then a statement that the Council has to follow them or 25 
face the risks of decisions being reviewed by the High Court.  

 
 The question I have is whether you consider that it is intra vires for a 

plan to have objectives and policies that help inform judgements by 
decision-makers on the relative significant scale and consequences of 30 
effects for public notification or limited notification. In other words, 
while the Council has to consider issues in regard to effects, isn’t it 
possible for a plan to have objectives and policies that pertain to the 
judgements the Council has to make on effects in terms of the question 
of notification, not just limited to rules, have objectives and policies 35 
that give guidance. 

 
MR BARTLETT:   You are talking about almost an advice note, and we have a 

common view on that, I am sure. If, sir, you are talking about a rule? 
 40 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, no, I haven’t really put the question very well, but I 

am struggling with the concept that the plan can only have rules on 
notification and cannot have objectives and policies that give people a 
clear stare as to the notification question. It goes to the question of 
process and process efficiency.? 45 
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MR BARTLETT:   I fail to see how any district plan provision can embellish 
or limit what is in the Act. To say that we are running an open house 
here or we are running a tight ship or something, you can’t even do 
that, can you?  

 5 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But not all effects are the same, and in terms of effects 

and assessment of effects it is an evaluative process, isn’t it? It’s a 
question of judgements, scale, significance, so therefore objectives and 
policies ought to be able to be considered in plans to deal with those 
questions of judgement, surely, it is not just a question of rules? Putting 10 
you on the spot. 

 
MR BARTLETT:   No, I am just going back to your first point, sir, whether 

Council can put out guidance for its commissioners and the Ministry 
does stuff from time-to-time, I am trying to understand how anything of 15 
any kind the Council puts in its district plan can qualify, or modify, a 
decision-makers obligation under the Act? 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But the obligation does not require the decision-maker to 

assess every effect, does it, in a consent? 20 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Well, then it can’t add to it, I guess. I was having another 

look at the Queenstown cases the other day in terms of the court 
focusing on not just the effect of the activity, but the effect of the 
planned large format retail soaking up 10, 15 or 20 percent of an 25 
available resource; in a very abstract sense and the objectives and 
policies were about preserving that land for a more specific industrial, 
rather than retail use. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 
 
  [10.20 am] 
 
MR BARTLETT:   And that was a factor, I am just trying to think how directly 

that relates to your Honour’s question? 35 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, it hasn’t been well put and I apologise for that. 

But in essence the submission made by the Council is, about the 
general topic, is that process provisions can be drafting guidance for, if 
you like, the development of the further bits and pieces of the plan, but 40 
expresses some caution about the ability of a process objective or 
policy to go further than just giving that temporary guidance, and then 
it goes on to say, at 7.8, on the topic of notification the fact that the Act 
prescribes a regime in 95 to 95E in terms of adverse effects being 
considered, and it may be the Council doesn’t mean this, but I took 45 
from it a caution that there couldn’t be an ongoing process policy or 
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objective that might pertain to the process of dealing with notification, 
for instance. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   And I think to put this in context, we are dealing specifically 

with the contents of the statement of expectation. 5 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   The A and I, I think it is of that statement of expectation, and 

it’s really a suggestion that we cannot have objectives and policies 10 
arising out of that, as I read it. Again, it may not be intended. 

 
MR BARTLETT:   I am still trying to get in my mind whether or not this topic, 

this guidance belongs inside a district plan. 
 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 
MR BARTLETT:   And I don’t see how it possibly can unless we start thinking 

of it in terms of an advice note, which I think would be very sloppy. 
 20 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, if you look at the design of a plan, if you look 

at section 75 of the Act, and it talks about the role of objectives in 
regard to policies, and policies to give effect to objectives, rules to give 
effect to policies and objectives, effectively that’s the hierarchy in 75. 
So a rule is to give effect to objectives and policies in a plan, more or 25 
less.  

 
 I guess starting with that theory I thought, well, surely if there are rules 

in the plan that pertain to notification, they have a relationship to 
objectives and policies at least in the sense that the design of a plan is 30 
that rules give effect to objectives and policies, and working from that 
logic I guess I raised a question in my own mind, at least before the 
closing submissions, that it must be possible in a theoretical sense for a 
plan to express, in strategic directions, objectives and policies on 
matters of process, including notification, at least in terms of evaluating 35 
effects. Still have to assess them, but there’s a question of weighted 
judgement given to effects in the Act. 

 
MR BARTLETT:   So then the question is whether, if a commissioner is sitting 

in Christchurch today or Waimak tomorrow, he’s got different 40 
notification tests, and I struggle with that. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it might be an officer that’s trying to make a 

judgement on non-notification, trying to make it either in a vacuum or 
with reference to guidance in the plan. 45 
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MR BARTLETT:   Well, I don’t want to take a cheap shot, sir, but it comes 
back, I hope to my initial point, the best chance is getting the drafting 
of the document right to give expression to the Crown’s direction, that 
means let’s have some better drafting, let’s have some better systems, 
pull out some of these three and four layer planning processes. Whether 5 
that can result in an abbreviated or different approach to notification in 
Christchurch, I struggle with. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 10 
MR BARTLETT:   And I think the further you went up the appeal chain, the 

more generalised the – I understand the point you’re making, sir, but I 
think the more that went through the process, but the time you got to 
the top you could say how could parliament possibly have intended that 
we have one set of notification approaches to Christchurch and another 15 
for everywhere else. 

 
 For me that goes to the heart of the Act, fix the Act, change the Act, I 

mean 95s had a few goes, hasn’t it, over the years. I cannot see how 
that could result in a substantive change. 20 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Bartlett. 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Anyway, (INDISTINCT 4.26) you might get some better 

answers. 25 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you. 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Thank you very much. 
 30 
MS DAWSON:   Just one question. I am struggling to understand what it is 

you want the strategic directions to say in relation to the role of the 
central city versus the activity centres. Now, I know you have said it 
shouldn’t say this and it shouldn’t say that, and I guess following on 
from Judge Hassan’s questions about the evidence that’s going to come 35 
in the future? 

 
  [10.25am] 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Yes. 40 
 
MS DAWSON:   I presume that when we get to the commercial chapter, your 

client, along with others, will have a substantial amount of evidence to 
bring on particular matters that are of concern to them in those 
chapters, and I guess I am wanting to know; are you really asking for 45 
the strategic directions not to say much at all at this stage, maybe leave 
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it till later? Or are you wanting particular outcomes to be put into the 
strategic directions at this stage, for your client I mean? 

 
MR BARTLETT:   Thank you very much for that. I am reminded that we are 

here by virtue of two further submissions in support, and the material I 5 
have quoted today, disapprovingly from staff and consultants, has no 
providence as I have said in the region documents or the plan, as 
notified. We are just concerned that this new stuff about non-
competition, not somehow by osmosis, got into the plan. 

 10 
 It is not there at the moment. Nobody is asking for it, but somehow it 

has become the focus of the Council evidence in Mr Winchester’s 
submission, and we do not know why. And that is why, without being 
unkind to my friends, there seems to be private agendas going on here 
that have got nothing to do with the chain of documents where the 15 
region documents treat the central area and the KACs globally. This 
notion of primary and secondary community focus is again a recent 
consultants’ invention; it is not in any of the statutory documents. 

 
 So, we are approaching – look, that questions entirely fair, “What do 20 

you want?” We are not unhappy, but we just hope that none of this 
stuff that seems to have taken up so much effort by Council is not in 
response to submission, and again, with reading the Crown material, 
which we are generally supportive of, as far as I can see the Crown is 
not in any way critical of the region documents for as much of the plan 25 
as notified. 

 
 But – and we just, so - - - 
 
MS DAWSON:   What about the latest version that came out of the planning 30 

conferencing; are you saying some things are slipping in there that have 
no providence? 

 
MR BARTLETT:   Some of the material I mentioned – I have not been able to 

get into the final chapter but in terms of the community, the primary 35 
and secondary focal point, they worry me as undefined terms. I do not 
know if their planning, if they are going slip back in. Because without – 
these planning caucuses are a great thing but often they result in 
compromises where everybody thinks that they have got what they got. 

 40 
MS DAWSON:   So it is really the slipping in of these additional terms? 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Undefined terms, yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   Into, well, on the one hand the legal submissions from some 
of the parties, but particularly a couple of these policies that have come 
in through the group? 

 
MR BARTLETT:   Correct. And the agreed principle that there is no hierarchy; 5 

to me that is a big red light. 
 
MS DAWSON:   All right. Thank you. 
 
MR BARTLETT:   So we are just here to stop the (INDISTINCT 3.25). 10 
 
MS DAWSON:   All right. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well a lack of discipline and clarity of language? 
 15 
MR BARTLETT:   That’s right. 
 
MS DAWSON:   And lack of definition of what those terms mean, and they’ve 

just popped in, according to your - - - 
 20 
MR BATLETT:   Correct. And as I say; if they have to be defined, please do it 

now, this isn’t a rehearsal for some amateur commissioners X’s years 
down the track, looking at the entrails of what they think happened 
here. That is what I am trying to avoid, because we have all been there 
a few times. 25 

 
MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 
 30 
DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir, that was the question that I was going to 

ask. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you Mr Bartlett, and you may be excused if you wish 

to. 35 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Thank you very much, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Cleary? 
 40 
MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir, I will be extremely brief. I am not going to 

traverse my closing submissions; I understand they will read by the 
Panel. But I just wanted to emphasis a number of points in the closing 
submissions and to respond, briefly, to a particular comment made in 
closing submissions on behalf of the airport by Ms Appleyard. 45 

 



 Page 1172 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 07.01.15 

 And so fundamentally I would urge the Panel to resist the suggested 
amendment to policy 3.6.2.8, or ‘Policy 2’, as it is in the planning 
caucusing statement. The suggested amendment in the airports closing 
submission is that the level the development provided for in that 
particular policy should be specifically limited to the level approved by 5 
variation 93 of the city plan. 

 
  [10.30am] 
 
 And as worded what the airport has suggested would effectively mean 10 

a policy ban on not only future residential development but also resort 
hotel, and any other form of guest accommodation development at the 
resort. And Ms Appleyard, in her closing submission, she suggested 
that her proposed amendment would alleviate Clearwater’s concerns, 
but as I hope will be clear to the Panel by now for the purposes of 15 
phase two – the second phase of this process – the intention is to seek 
further limited (ph 0.40) intensification of development at the resort, 
and the ability to seek further development rights at the second phase 
would effectively be stymied by a policy which states that the level of 
development at the resort must effectively be frozen in time. And this is 20 
unduly restrictive and would be of huge concern to my client. 

 
 Just on the issues of inconsistency which is with the LURP, which is 

dealt with in more detail in closing submissions. And my submission: 
to make a decision limiting, in a policy sense, the extent of 25 
development at the resort to that level authorised by the earlier 
variation 93, it would be inconsistent with the minister’s decision to 
include the Clearwater exemption within the LURP. 

 
 And going to – just touching on section 23.1.F of the CERA Act that 30 

imposes obligations on the decision makers not to make a decision that 
is inconsistent with the LURP during the review of an RMA document.  

 
 I just want to focus on that word ‘review’, because quite clearly there 

can be no doubt that the current process is a review of an RMA 35 
document. I mean, that much is clear from section 6 of the Order in 
Council, which refers to the review and replacement of the existing 
district plan. I do not think that there is any doubt about that 
whatsoever. 

 40 
 So simply put: it is my submission the Clearwater exemption, as set out 

in the LURP, should be replicated verbatim within the proposed plan, 
and it should be carried over as part of the review of the city plan 
without limitation or amendment, and to the extent that an 
inconsistency is alleged as between the Clearwater exemption in the 45 
LURP on the higher order policy 6.3.5 of the RPS. My submission is 
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that the Panel does not have to concern itself with that allegation. You 
do not need to second-guess the decision of the minister to include the 
Clearwater exemption in the LURP. Rather, any decision you make 
must simply – as a matter of law – be consistent with his decision. 

 5 
 I understand that the planners have agreed to a slight amendment to the 

minister’s decision on that particular policy. And that limitation is 
generally acceptable to my clients for the reason stated in the closing 
submissions, and in particular the policy, as amended by the planners, it 
does not preclude the possibility of my clients putting a case forward 10 
for further development at the resort in phase two of this process. And 
the precise meaning of the term ‘limited extent of development at 
Clearwater’, well that can be decided at phase two. 

 
 And just finally: for two decades development at Clearwater resort has 15 

been recognised as a justified exemption to a policy of discouraging, or 
more lately, avoiding noise sensitive development within the 50dB 
contour. Clearwater is an existing urban area; it is not a proposed 
greenfield residential area which is the main focus of previously plan 
change one of the LPS, or the LURP. But Clearwater can, in my 20 
submission, accommodate further intensification without in any way 
compromising the operation of the airport. An existing development at 
the resort has met the sustainable management purpose of the Act on 
numerous occasions over the last 20 years and nothing in my 
submission has changed to suggest that future development cannot 25 
achieve the same ideal. Thank you. 

 
  [10.35 am] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, just one thing I struggle with in your 30 

submission, it covers this at 5.4, I think, or perhaps that is a good entre 
into it anyway.  

 
 Now there you are responding to the submissions of the Council and 

the Airport, but you do not do it there and just in terms of what I have 35 
just heard you say, I do not know if you have done it now in your oral 
speaking to the submissions, confront the issue of how we give effect 
to the Regional Policy Statement, 6.3.5(4)? 

 
MR CLEARY:   Well, I have actually referred to it in my submission in terms 40 

of that a clear decision was made by the minister in the LURP. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   We cannot go behind the wording of the Policy Statement. 

We have to give effect to it as a statutory document, not second-guess, 
as you say, what the minister intended or did not. The words of the 45 
statutory document themselves, for better or worse, how do we give 
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effect to it, particularly given it expresses in its explanation that the 
only exception to the 50, if you like, the position around the 50 line is 
in Kaiapoi.  

 
MR CLEARY:   It is not just Kaiapoi, but - - - 5 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So the explanatory statement is not quite accurate. But it 

does not provide an exemption does it for your client’s land? 
 
MR CLEARY:   It does not provide a specific exemption - - - 10 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So how do we deal with that given that it is an avoidance 

policy? 
 
MR CLERY:   Well, I guess one point I would like to make is that nowhere in 15 

any of the evidence presented on behalf of the Airport or the Council 
has any assessment been done in terms of - - -  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But it is not a question of assessment, it is a question of 

legal interpretation. How do we deal with the question of legal 20 
interpretation in the face of the policy of avoidance? How do we 
provide an exemption? 

 
MR CLEARY:   But that is one isolated policy, sir, and - - -  
 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is your submission on the place of that policy in 

the Regional Policy Statement in terms of our obligation to give effect 
to the Regional Policy Statement? 

 
MR CLEARY:   Well, my submission is that in the previous decision the 30 

minister has reconciled with the - - - 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, in terms of interpreting the Policy Statement in 

accordance with the rules of statutory interpretation as they have been 
applied in a policy and planning context under the RMA, we look 35 
within the four corners of the document itself, we do not look to 
extraneous material unless we have to, the point of dealing with 
questions of inherent uncertainty in the words, but if the words 
themselves are certain and clear, are we not required to apply them?  

 40 
MR CLEARY:   In the same sense as you are required to apply the minister’s 

decision in the LURP. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So what is your submission in regard to our obligation to 

give effect to the Regional Policy Statement given the place of this 45 
policy within                                               the wider document?  
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MR CLEARY:   Well, the Regional Policy Statement, its main focus, sir, as I 

have stated, is on management of Residential Greenfield Development. 
The main focus is not on controlling intensification of existing urban 
areas such as exists at Clearwater.  5 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So is there something else in the document that says to us, 

even though the wording of the policy itself refers to avoidance of 
development and does not provide an exemption for Clearwater, is 
there something else within the four corners of the Regional Policy 10 
Statement that says, we can put a gloss on those words, the plain 
meaning of those words, to give them a different meaning? 

 
MR CLEARY:   Well, you can look at sort of the higher order objectives to 

that particular policy. 15 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And which are those? Which are the specific ones of the 

Regional Policy Statement are you wanting us to refer to for the 
purposes of putting a gloss on? 

 20 
MR CLEARY:   Well, they were actually referred to in terms of the protection 

of its strategic infrastructure, in terms of activities not compromising its 
strategic infrastructure. I do not have the particular policy at hand.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But the policy begins with those words, I think, does it 25 

not? And then it goes down to the specific - - - 
 
MR CLEARY:   The objective, sir. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, the objective to which that policy relates. Can you 30 

perhaps come back to it if you need to just give us the reference for the 
objective? 

 
MR CLEARY:   They will be canvas, as I said, in Mr Bonis’s evidence, I 

cannot - - - 35 
 
  [10.40 am] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, thank you. So do I understand your submission to be 

that policy 6.3.5(4) where it refers to avoidance should be read in light 40 
of a related objective to which that policy relates. That is addressed in 
Mr Bonis’ evidence. The panel can find it if that is what you are saying. 

 
MR CLEARY:   Mr Bonis refers to those objectives in his evidence and I am 

sorry I cannot remember the precise number. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   If you perhaps just take a moment as other counsel are 
presenting and stand up at the relevant time and give us that number. 

 
MR CLEARY:   Unfortunately I do not have Mr Bonis’ evidence here but my 

friend (INDISTINCT 1.06) appears to have. 5 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, well at some moment convenient to you just 

give us the reference and we can look at it. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, if it is critical to your submission you should have had 10 

Mr Cleary, should you not? Well, it seems to be critical to your 
submission, does it not? 

 
MR CLEARY:   I made the submission, sir, the closing submissions that 

effectively that none of the witnesses for the Airport or Council, well 15 
effectively what they had done was assess the Clearwater exemption 
against an isolated policy which is policy 6.3.5(4). 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   As we must do. 
 20 
MR CLEARY:   And no assessment had been made against any of the other 

provisions of the regional policy statement. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But the question I had for you was given that is now the 

panel’s burden to do this as part of its decision making. Can you assist 25 
the panel further by providing the specific objective, or objectives, that 
we should read this policy in reference to, to put an appropriate gloss 
on it? 

 
MR CLEARY:   It is the objective that talks about compatibility of 30 

development with strategic infrastructure. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So perhaps after a moment you can compare notes with 

counsel and give us the objective. 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   And you also might like to address the issue as to statutory 

interpretation terms, how that allows us to read down, because that is 
what is what you are asking us to do, 6.3.5 in its plain meaning. 

 
MR CLEARY:   Yes. 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   But you can come back to that. 
 
MR CLEARY:   But again, sorry, sir, there is a plain meaning in the minister’s 

decision on the LURP. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   It comes back to the statutory interpretation point that we 
discussed earlier on Mr Cleary. Not what the minister meant, it comes 
back to reading it according to statutory interpretation principles, does 
it not, which are well established. 

 5 
MR CLEARY:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And it is a statutory interpretation principle as much as an 

RMA policy interpretation principle. One looks at the main wording, in 
this case with a statutory direction to give effect and then interprets that 10 
either if there is something on the face of the wording that suggests an 
ambiguity or lack of clarity. It is permissible to go to associated 
objectives and policies within the entire document but that is an 
important rider not to some extraneous source of what the minister 
meant but what the document says. That is our obligation. 15 

 
MR CLEARY:   I appreciate that but again the obligation applies equally to the 

requirement not to make decisions inconsistent with the LURP. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is your submission that the obligation to give effect 20 

again, we still must give effect to the regional policy statement, is your 
submission that we can give effect to it, even so, in a way that is not 
inconsistent with the other document. But still nevertheless we must be 
giving effect to the regional policy statement. We cannot fudge that, 
can we? 25 

 
MR CLEARY:   Well, I can say my submission is that providing for limited 

development at Clearwater Resort does give effect to the RPS. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And are you referring to the wording of policy 6.3.5(4) for 30 

that submission or are you referring to another provision of the regional 
policy statement for that submission? 

 
MR CLEARY:   That particular policy, again it was covered by Mr Philips in 

his evidence. That does refer to new development but fundamentally as 35 
I have said in my submission; the Clearwater Resort is not a new 
development. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So refers to new development, the policy? 
 40 
MR CLEARY:   Sorry, the policy. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that the wording of policy 6.3.5(4) that you are 

referring to? 
45 
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  [10.45 am] 
 
MR CLEARY:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. So your submission is that we should treat the 5 

policy as applying to avoid new development but should regard the 
Clearwater development as not fitting that avoidance policy that is a 
new development. 

 
MR CLEARY:   It is not. It fundamentally is not new development. I come 10 

back to the point that I have made is that, I mean, the provenance, to 
use the word of my friend, of that particular policy lies in proposed 
change 1 to the RPS. Okay and the fundamental driver behind that 
particular change to the regional policy statement was the management 
of Greenfield residential and business development which is new 15 
Greenfield residential and business development. Not intensification of 
existing. 

 
JDUGE HASSAN:   So additional construction at Clearwater in your 

submission is not new development? 20 
 
MR CLEARY:   It is not new development. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 
 25 
MR CLEARY:   In the sense that as I said, if you look at the regional policy 

statement on PC1 globally, it was talked about identifying new 
Greenfield areas where new residential development was considered to 
be appropriate. 

 30 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, thank you Mr Chairman. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 
 
DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you sir. 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Just one thing and I am sure it is my misunderstanding, Mr 

Cleary. We will come back to that other point when we have heard 
from the others. But you are suggesting, as I understood your 
suggestion this morning, Clearwater will be applying in stage 2 for 40 
additional intensification. 

 
MR CLEARY:   Limited intensification. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Because earlier you said you were asking for no more than 45 

you already have? 
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MR CLEARY:   No, that has never been my position, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, I clearly misunderstood you before Christmas then. 
 5 
MR CLEARY:   That would be appear to be the case. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, thank you and we will come back to you on that 

other point. 
 10 
MR CLEARY:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Ms Dewar, I am not quite sure of your position. 

You indicated you did not want to submit and then a document came in 
very late yesterday, far too late for the panel to sensibly consider it for 15 
this morning. Are you simply here to answer questions if the panel 
have any or do you wish to make some submissions? 

 
MS DEWAR:   No, I do not sir. I merely here to present the document so it can 

be put into the evidence and if you did have any questions for me I 20 
would be happy to answer them to the extent I can. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, so you are seeking to produce it as an exhibit from 

the bar? 
 25 
MS DEWAR:   Yes, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. If there is no objection from other counsel it can 

clearly go in by consent. 
 30 
MR RADICH:   Yes, sir, thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No objection, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, well it can come in as an Exhibit 9.  35 
 
EXHIBIT #9 – DOCUMENT FROM MS DEWAR 
 
MS DAWSON:   What is it? 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   It is a redraft of the Ngai Tahu provisions. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Which the legal submissions from TRONT said they would 

produce, didn’t they? 
 45 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
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MS DEWAR:   So it is the same document that was presented by our witness 

Ms Westle’s (ph 3.33) but was has been added to it is simply the 
additional words that have been agreed between TRONT and the 
Crown. 5 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay. 
 
MS DAWSON:   And so in the original is what you refer to as the 4th 

December version? I think that is in your legal submissions. 10 
 
MS DEWAR:   Most likely, yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes, which was attached to Ms Westle’s submission. 
 15 
MS DEWAR:   That is right, yes. So there has been various versions of it so 

this is that version but with the additional amendments made that have 
been done. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   And they are tracked? 20 
 
MS DEWAR:   They are tracked in two different colours simply because I do 

not have the technical skills to change them to one colour. I have got no 
secretary and no staff at the moment. 

 25 
SIR HANSEN:   We sympathise. 
 
MS DEWAR:   So I did the best I could with the skills that I have got and I 

hope it has not made it more confusing but I did try to make it easier. 
 30 
MS DAWSON:   And I think Ms Westle came back with some other 

amendments at one point having responded to some matters raised in 
Mr Eman’s evidence. So those are all in one version? 

 
 MS DEWAR:   They are all included. So if you ignore every other version 35 

before that and stick to that one everything is in there and there are 
comments that are not ours because it was a document from the 
Council. Yes. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 40 
 
MS DEWAR:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 
 45 
DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you sir. 
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SIR HANSEN:   All right, thank you and you may be released Ms Dewar. Mr 

Radich. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you, your honour and members of the panel. I will 5 

be referring if I may during the submissions to of course the Crown’s 
submissions to the Council’s submissions and also to the work of the 
expert panel and there are of course several documents they have 
produced. The one I would like to refer to, if I may, if you have it 
available, which is the clean objectives and policy, there was a clean 10 
version without the comment boxes. And I found that to be a useful 
way to look at it, having absorbed the comments, because it shows the 
order in which the expert panel was proposing the new objectives and 
policies. 

 15 
  [10.50 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I think the only one we have has got comment boxes. I am not 

sure about others? 
 20 
MS DAWSON:   No, we have got a clean version as well. Sorry, it does still 

have comment boxes.  
 
SIR HANSEN:    No, it still has got comment boxes. 
 25 
MS DAWSON:   I heard it by the origin of the word.  
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, and - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   We have got comment boxes down the right hand column.  30 
 
MS DAWSON:   Some of them.  
 
MR RADICH:   It has got some. But what it does have, your Honour, and 

members of the panel, is under the heading ‘Attachment 1, Agreed 35 
Matters, et cetera’, then the next heading, ‘Clean Objectives and 
Policies’ only. Does that - - -  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I have got that one.  
 40 
MS DAWSON:   But it does not how the track changes, but it still includes the 

comments which show the origin of the - - - 
 
MR RADICH:   That is exactly right, ma’am. 
 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And the other comments about ‘so and so disagrees with 
something other’, they have been taken out.  

 
MR RADICH:   And the benefit of this particular version is that the policies or 

the objectives and policies are all exactly in the order in which they 5 
would appear if this were the chapter, whereas the other version was 
more of a discussion document including different objectives and 
policies in slightly different places.  

 
SR HANSEN:   Is this attached to your submission? 10 
 
MR RADICH:   No, because this came in after. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   No, well, the only one I have is the one that is similar to the 

one attached to your submission. 15 
 
MR RADICH:   Thank you, the way it reached me, your Honour, was that that 

version plus the version with the many comment boxes both came 
together and one could easily have looked at one and not the other. 

 20 
 Well, look, just as that is being copied, because that is the version that I 

will go to, can I just say this, turning to the Crown’s closing 
submissions, which of course were filed before the final version of the 
planners work came about, but this has been, if I can put it this way, 
quite a journey, a very productive journey. There has been, from the 25 
outset, I think, agreement on principles and objectives, but real 
differences on presentation and wording and clarity. There have been 
issues about the likes of process principles.  

 
 There has been a degree of defensiveness, but there has been a real 30 

coming together. And I must say that in light of this particular 
document, which as is said, at the end of the Crown’s submissions does 
in the Crown’s view satisfy effectively, subject to some comments I 
will make to you, the Crown’s view about meeting the expectations and 
the statement of expectations, we have reached a point where the 35 
parties have really come together in a substantive and commendable 
way to overcome so many of the issues that were put by the Crown in 
its opening submission and in discussing matters with witnesses. To the 
extent that I do not propose to go through in any detailed the written 
closing submissions. I will refer to them and show you where they were 40 
going, but really those submissions were predicated in anticipation of 
receiving something from the expert panel on the original position that 
the Council was putting forward.  

 
 So if I can just identify critical parts of the written document and then 45 

turn to this Clean Objectives and Policies document and put some 
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comments and I will make those comments in relation to matters that 
have been raised by my learned friend for the Crown and for the 
Council in the Council’s written submission. There are just several 
matters that are worth discussing in the context of those submissions 
and also in the context of some of the additions that the Crown was 5 
proposing in the version of the 17 December agreed matters document 
produced by the panel that was attached to the Crown’s submission.  

 
 So looking at the introduction to the Crown’s submissions on page 1, I 

started off by the point again that I have mentioned before from 10 
Dr Berryman where he said that the events in Christchurch had been 
extraordinary, and that is certainly the case. And there is a 
corresponding need, as we say there, for something that is a bit more 
extraordinary in planning terms. 

 15 
  [10.55 am] 
 
 The introduction talks about in paragraph 2 the need for direction and 

in paragraph 3 the need for leadership and the Crown’s endeavours to 
do that. Those comments have been taken on board by the planners 20 
generally and so I do not pursue them. 

 
 Turning on page 2 to the direction provided in the higher order 

documents, the opening submissions for the Crown were quite full.  
 25 
 They look at each of those primary documents, the Resource 

Management Act and the higher order documents and analyse them. I 
do not want to repeat that there, I just like the point in paragraph 8 and 
I said this orally in opening that it is not right to view each of these 
documents in the direction provided by them as being assigned to a 30 
place in a hierarchy based on the various different words that have been 
used, such as ‘give an effect to’, ‘not being consistent with’, ‘have 
particular regard to’. They are not ascending or a descending order of 
importance set of words, they can be used in accordance with their 
ordinary and natural meanings, so one could give effect to something in 35 
the Regional Policy Statement, for example, and then have particular 
regard to something that is said in the statement of expectations and 
modify the outcome accordingly. 

 
 In paragraph 10 and over the next few pages of these written 40 

submissions, some of the primary points that arise out of the other 
documents, the statement of expectations, the Canterbury Earthquake 
Recovery Act, the recovery strategy and the LURP, and the Regional 
Policy Statement, are discussed. And these comments were made and 
written in the context of pursuing the Crown’s objective for some 45 
objectives and policies that were more defining the grade or certainty 
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and as I have come on to say, when we look at them, the actual version 
of the policies and objectives that have come out of the expert process 
largely meet those concerns on the part of the Crown, so it does not 
need to pursue this as effectively the foundation for a submission that 
something more is needed.  5 

 
 But I just want to mention some of them as I go. The statement of 

expectations – this is my paragraph 10(a) on page 3 of the submission – 
refers to the need to reduce significantly reliance and we have looked at 
these provisions I some detail in (a) and (i) on the consent process’s 10 
prescriptiveness. And this is something that I will come back to when 
discussing the process provision and my learned friend 
Mr Winchester’s submissions on that and the point already made by 
your Honour, Judge Hassan, that that is worthier for the discussion.  

 15 
 At (b) we refer to the Act itself which has its primary focus on, in 

section, on the need to respond to and recover from the impacts of the 
earthquakes. 

 
 The recovery strategy, and as we said at opening, there has been real 20 

care taken in that document to identify the six components of recovery: 
economic, built, natural, cultural, social and leadership. And they really 
in their own way form a model set of strategic directions.  

 
 At (d) I refer to the Land Use Recovery Plan, the LURP, there is some 25 

time spent in the Council’s submissions on the issue of urban design 
and I will be commenting on that in the context of the objectives and 
policies themselves that have come out of the planning process or the 
caucusing process, but I just mention in my paragraph (d) at the top of 
page 4 for the LURP, giving seven goals for recovery, and it includes 30 
supporting innovative urban design. 

 
 So it is accept that that is front and centre at that point, but alongside a 

range of other things, coordinating and prioritising infrastructure 
investment, rebuilding infrastructure and buildings and developing 35 
transport, et cetera, a range of affordable housing. 

 
 Then I mention in (e) the 15 outcomes. I will not repeat them, but there 

is a need for a clear planning framework, which directs – and these 
words are important, I think, taken from the Land Use Recovery Plan – 40 
a clear planning framework which directs where and how new 
development should occur, integrating effectively and efficiently with 
infrastructure programmes and avoiding hazards and constraints. 

 
 I mention some of the 50 actions that came out of the LURP and these 45 

are those that I think are most relevant here at this stage of the enquiry, 
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are Action 2, requiring the Council to provide in the replacement for 
housing choice intensification, reduce consenting notification 
requirements. 

 
  [11.00 am] 5 
 
 Action 11, enable community facilities within Key Activity Centres 

and neighbourhood centres, improved access to buildings, structures 
and places, and certainty about urban design requirements crops up 
again there.  10 

 
 Action 24, a broad range of measures there to provide for business, 

including existing and industrial activities in business zones, 
developments in existing urban business areas, including brownfield, 
and then again clarity and certainty about industrial design 15 
requirements and business zones, defining the extent of each key 
activity centre, things that will come in subsequent hearings, and 
providing for mixed use development within them. 

 
 Action 36, the transport network. 20 
 
 Action 45, which we have discussed off and on during the hearing, 

requiring the Council to enable in the plan measures to reduce 
consenting, this is the process point, and notification requirements 
again to address standards relating to urban design that could 25 
negatively impact upon recovery, and to provide for existing industrial 
activities in business zones, and importantly as I say, just as the end of 
that subparagraph there, that this action point does recognise that these 
steps need to be taken as a matter of some urgency to achieve recovery, 
and they may be interim measures that are superseded by subsequent 30 
amendments to the plan, during the lifecycle of the plan. 

 
 I mention the Christchurch central recovery plan. This has some 

resonance here because there is discussion in the Council’s submissions 
about the role of the central city versus other activity centres, and you 35 
have heard from my learned friend Mr Bartlett this morning about 
matters that touch on these points, and so I have just set out some of the 
key parts of the Christchurch Central Recovery Plan, I won’t read it all, 
but page 3, and my first bullet point there on page 5, refers to the city 
centre as being well formed and vibrant, producing economic and 40 
social benefits, bringing people together et cetera, greater productivity, 
connectedness, development of human capital, sharing of ideas and a 
shared identity. 

 
 Page 15, requires there to be a need for a thriving, vibrant central city, 45 

critical to the recovery of greater Christchurch. City centres are 
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engines, it is said, of productivity and innovation because the higher 
density of people and businesses makes sharing ideas and establishing 
connections easier, it encourages competition, reduces some of the 
costs of doing business and this particular extract goes on to say the 
dislocation of businesses following the quake or the quakes have 5 
already had a substantial cost to the economy with preliminary 
estimates suggesting a lack of central city is costing the New Zealand 
economy between $200-$400 million a year, a city serving almost 
560,000 people needs to, it is said, offer the facilities, services and 
amenities that would be expected in any equivalent city worldwide. 10 

 
 I mention on page 41 an urban design in the central city where it is said 

there that the interface of buildings and their surroundings, including 
streets and public spaces is an important component in creating a 
distinctive central city that is attractive to all, and therefore it is said for 15 
this reason all buildings in the core will be assessed to ensure this 
critical urban design aspect is achieved, streamlined consenting 
processes are referring to. 

 
 And then the last bullet point there on page 6, when talking about the 20 

statutory direction that is then given, there is reference to a distinctive 
central city characterised by a consolidated central city business area 
fostering business investment and growth, low rise, diverse range of 
activities, greener, higher quality housing options, increased residential 
population and places and spaces that are attractive. 25 

 
 Then I mention finally in this run through of the higher order 

documents, chapter 6 of the RPS and, look, I won’t go through all of 
that, it has been well referred to. Again, at the bottom of that page, the 
last sentence on page 6 of these submissions, I mention 6.2.5 which 30 
provides support for the central city and for key activity centres and 
neighbourhood centres with a direction in 6.2.6(3) that these 
commercial activities are directed primarily to those areas, but also 
providing for a range of business activities in appropriate locations. 

 35 
  [11.05 am] 
 
 I mention in paragraph 11 the Crown’s principal outcomes statement in 

its submissions where it had focused on the headings, the areas of 
housing supply, economic prosperity, natural hazards, infrastructure, 40 
rebuilding community facilities, revitalising damaged areas, providing 
direction and reducing prescriptiveness, and I can say that the Crown is 
satisfied that the journey that we have all taken has produced 
effectively, if there is to be some traction with the outcome of the 
expert caucusing document, has produced a proposal, a proposed 45 



 Page 1187 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 07.01.15 

chapter that goes a great way in achieving those objectives that the 
Crown sought at the outset in that principal outcomes statement. 

 
 The balance of this part of the submission was looking at the fact that 

effectively in the originally notified version and the updated version 5 
there still remained a scattering of objectives or policies relating to 
those key outcomes, but I won’t go there because I think we have 
moved on from that.  

 
 Now, similarly, pages 8, under the heading “the need for recovery 10 

focus, clear strategic direction”, and that section which runs through to 
page 12, I need not go into because what this particular part of the 
submission was doing, in case matters were not taken too much further 
forward through the caucusing process, was looking at some of the 
concerns that came out in the evidence from the Crown’s point of view, 15 
and what it was saying was that there is a real need, a plea on the 
Crown’s part, for a clear set of, as I say in 16, discrete and defined 
interconnected objectives and policies dealing with each of these 
particular topics, written in a way that people can understand. 

 20 
 There was some concern, as we mention in 22, about some of the 

evidence that came out; in 24 there was mention of the benefit that 
some of the planners for the Council tended to accept were there to be 
specific objectives, and in 25, the general acceptance of the dispersed 
nature of the Crown’s objectives following a different approach to the 25 
drafting of this particular provision at the outset, and then in 28 the 
benefits of adopting an approach along the lines of that proposed by 
Mr Timms for the Crown were discussed, with references to all of the 
evidence. 

 30 
 But, again, we have moved past that and it is there to underline the 

Crown’s concerns and the benefits that it saw coming out of something 
that was more structured. 

 
 The next section of the written submissions looked at cutting red tape 35 

and the process submissions, and I will leave that effectively, if I may, 
and come to it when I discuss the process provision in a moment or two 
in the caucusing document. And these submissions were really in 
favour of there being a process provision of the sort that is now being 
proposed, and was taking issue with some of the resistance to a 40 
proposal of that sort. In circumstances in which a process provision is 
now before you, I think it is best to discuss it in the light of that and 
support a process provision of that sort addressing as we go the 
comments made by your Honour, Judge Hassan, about the notification 
point. 45 
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 I won’t deal at all, therefore, with the points made on my page 14 on 
comments on the Council’s evidence. There was some concerns about 
the approach which really, as the journey has continued, have been 
addressed through the new document.  

 5 
 A couple of very specific points, first of all, top of page 15, emergency 

vehicle access. Now, if I could – if the members of the Panel have 
before them the clean version of the objectives and policy that has 
emerged from the caucusing, this point is on page 4, I hope we all have 
a document with the same page numbering, and it is under the policy 10 
accessible development; so just to anchor ourselves, this comes under 
the – there are three objectives in a row on pages 2 and 3, the three 
objectives are urban growth and form, then housing, and then business 
and economic prosperity, top of page 3. 

 15 
  [11.10 am] 
 
 Then there are a range of policies, and this is one of them on page 4, 

and this policy is accessible development, the point here is VIII, 
provide adequate and efficient access for emergency service vehicles. 20 
But that was the provision that was sought and it has been maintained 
and so that is supported.  

 
 Yet the one further point that the Fire Service wishes to bring out, and I 

mention this in paragraph 46 of my written submission, is for there to 25 
be express reference to the New Zealand Fire Service Firefighting 
Water Supplies Code of Practice providing clarity about the applicable 
standard for adequate water safety for firefighting. And this was a point 
made by Mr Merry in giving his evidence and if the panel was minded 
that certainly the Crown’s strong submission on behalf of the Fire 30 
Service is that there should be reference to that code also within VIII. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Could the wording for that be provided to the panel before 

the Crown closes?  
 35 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you. I will do that and have it to you just shortly, 

sir, thank you. I think Ainsley McLeod had some suggested wording 
that she was wanting, I will just bring it back.  

 
 The next part of the Crown submission looks at urban design. And as 40 

we say in 47 there is general agreement, I think, from all witnesses that 
good urban design is desirable as part of the recovery. Differences 
really arise as to the degree of the regulation that is required. Policy 
6.3.2 of the Regional Policy Statement does not require the 
implementation of urban design principles at all costs, but as 45 
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Mr Timms noted the policy is qualified by the requirement that that 
kind of implementation must be to the extent appropriate to context.  

 
 And just again to anchor this and to the provision that is before you at 

the moment, the panel was to go to page 6 of the clean version of the 5 
outcomes from the caucusing. You will see there an objective, about 
halfway down the page, “quality urban environment that is attractive to 
business residents and visitors” and then the policy, “design of 
development shall take into account the following principles of good 
urban design to the extent appropriate to the context”.  10 

 
 Now if I could ask you please, and I do not want to steal my learned 

friend, Mr Winchester’s thunder here, and I will just identify where it 
is. But in the City Council’s submissions on this point, part 6, 
beginning on page 14 of the Council’s submissions, the point is 15 
addressed and what my learned friend is saying and he will say this a 
great deal better than I will, of course, is that – the top of page 15 
effectively – at this the future directions level there needs to be clarity 
in explaining the issues and the outcomes sought that the strategic 
directions chapter need not – and this is the point made at the bottom of 20 
his paragraph 6.2 – get into the details of how this is to be achieved, but 
just needs to make the point that to some degree it should - - -  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple of questions on the fire there. My 

understanding of the evidence was that development in the scale that 25 
some witnesses put it was not intended to be all encompassing 
developments throughout the district and it was not intended to be at a 
scale of an individual house, for instance, and that it was intended 
rather to be targeted to where urban design policy would have value 
and not undue cost. So for instance, the central city was mentioned a 30 
minute ago – and I am just wondering, I still struggle with a concept of 
a policy going into strategic directions that has an amorphous concept 
of development in it which says the ordinary meaning. 

 
 Well, the ordinary meaning of “I am going to develop my house” is that 35 

I have just developed it and it is a development. It could also be a large 
subdivision? 

 
  [11.15 am] 
 40 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And this does not say, for instance, anything which gives 

direction to the fact that it is intended to be targeted at certain parts of 
the district and not others, even though the targeting could come 45 
through later, it does not signal targeting in any way. 
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MR RADICH:   That is exactly the concern, sir, about this particular policy as 

it is drafted now, that while I think we all agree about some of the 
parameters, and I don’t disagree with much of what my learned friend 
says in his submissions about the need for a clear statement on urban 5 
design in some way, shape or form, but I think that this general 
provision that has come in under the heading “Policy Development, 
Design and Quality”, is very vague indeed – referring as it does, as 
your Honour says, to development and then having a very broad range 
of subparagraphs that come out of it which are really in a way taken 10 
directly from the Regional Policy Statement, they don’t really give us 
much in the way of direction, and this is one of those provisions that it 
may have been just due to the fact that the planners were hitting 
Christmas and it was this is one of the last things that occurred I think- 
- - 15 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it was left out of the first iteration, came out of the 

second. 
 
MR RADICH:   And so I mean no criticism of them when I say that this really 20 

is something that still maintains the aspects with the original proposal 
that the Crown was concerned with, in the sense that there are a lot of 
planning speak in here, there are a lot of generalisations that it would 
be reluctant to see taken wholesale into a strategic directions chapter. 

 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and I am wondering whether in terms of the 

pragmatism that needs to apply in a situation like this is whether there 
could be some modification to this which at least indicated for later 
rounds of the Inquiry, that this is intended to be a targeted policy that 
will be expressly targeted later towards some things and explicitly 30 
away from others. 

 
 In other words, something which says something like “where 

specified”, or you know, “where specified in later provisions this 
applies”, or something which just at least signals it is not an all-35 
encompassing urban design lurch that is going to apply across the 
district to all levels of development. 

 
MR RADICH:   That would be supported, wholly supported by the Crown, 

your Honour, in the sense that there is so much, there is so much 40 
diversity, there are so many things that are yet to come in terms of 
urban design in the chapter, there are some such distinctive parts of the 
Christchurch District, for example, where different considerations will 
apply – Lyttelton, Sydenham, New Brighton, Sumner; and the features 
that characterise them – the Port Hills, the Avon River, those sorts of 45 
things are all going to give rise to their own particular considerations 
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and so therefore to have something that’s this broad here at this stage is 
of real concern I think. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well it may well, for instance, attract attention in 

submissions anxieties that are misplaced by a large number of people 5 
coming along to say please don’t impose that on us. 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, and I think that the planners have endeavoured to, to 

some degree, deal with it – with the words extent appropriate to the 
context, but that is still too vague in the Crown’s submission to be of 10 
particular use, and could well, as your Honour says, give rise to 
significant issues down the line. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well extent appropriate to the context is, falls right into 

Mr Bartlett’s comment. 15 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, well it does, his words are echoing in my ears as I make 

that point, so that’s right. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 20 
 
MR RADICH:   I think that that really, that conversation covers the concerns 

that the Crown had with that particular policy. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Can I ask, I mean is the Crown going to make any 25 

suggestions regarding amendments to that policy, or just leave it with 
us? 

 
MR RADICH:   It can do – I don’t have- - - 
 30 
MS DAWSON:   I know you can’t give evidence. 
 
MR RADICH:   No, and I don’t have them at my fingertips.  Given the timing 

of the receipt of the document we, there isn’t a re-draft that is there, but 
if you would like us to do some further work, we’re happy to do that. 35 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I wonder whether one concept, and Mr Winchester may 

want to think about this too, is whether there is a construct of a defined 
term which is specified development, which starts the ball rolling and 
specified development is defined to be something quite specific and 40 
targeted, so while we cannot define where it will be at this stage, 
because we have not heard the evidence on any of it, it is a definition 
which signals, puts a place marker in there, that it is actually a targeted 
urban design initiative, not one that’s all encompassing. 

45 
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  [11.20 am] 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   As long as we can start avoiding words having specified 5 

meanings and general meanings and people relying on underlines or 
colours or stuff like that which is just utterly confusing and extremely 
poor drafting, and there is heaps of it in here still. 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 10 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Now, I accept your comments because I do not say it 

pejoratively because there is very real time constraints, but to use 
words with differing meanings in the same chapter is an invitation to all 
the appeals that Mr Bartlett was talking about, is it not? 15 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, that is right, sir, and- - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   I doubt the Crown would support that approach. 
 20 
MR RADICH:   Certainly not, certainly not.  Okay.  Right, so just coming 

back, and I’ve come to the document again that has come out of the 
planners caucusing, but going back to my submissions, page 16, the 
Ngāi Tahu position, I think, has been sufficiently set out. 

 25 
 The changes, as I mentioned a bit earlier, that have been the only 

changes that have been the subject of anything that you have not seen 
in here, are those very isolated points that were the ongoing discussion, 
subject of ongoing discussion between the Crown and my learned 
friend for Te Rūnanga, which have now been adjusted. 30 

 
 They cover the introduction section primarily, and in the early part of 

the strategic directions and proposal, and they just satisfy the concerns 
that the Crown had expressed, and I don’t, I think, need to address them 
in any substantive way given that the wording is now acceptable. 35 

 
 Now, if I can turn to the statement from the caucusing process more 

directly.  Attached to the Crown’s submission, and I don’t want to 
confuse you by having different versions of this available, so I’ll just 
identify as I go, if I may, the additional words that the Crown had 40 
suggested, but they are also in that attachment to the Crown’s 
submission, which was a slightly different and earlier version of this 
outcome from the caucusing process, so - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   And they are the underlined words, are they? 45 
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MR RADICH:   Yes, they are, your Honour, yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:    Are they all the underlined words, or just the double 

underlined words? 
 5 
SIR HANSEN:   Here we go again. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Especially in black and white.  There is a whole lot of single 

underlining as you get on in it, and I do not think they are- - - 
 10 
MR RADICH:   No, no, just the double underlining- - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   The double underlining are the change, the single underlining 

are those words that have specified meanings. 
 15 
MS DAWSON:   Well, no- - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Is it?  Or what are they? 
 
MS DAWSON:   All sorts of things. 20 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, well. 
 
MR RADICH:   Let me put it this way, you may not have a colour version – I 

do not expect you to, but the version that I have has blue with double 25 
underlining and they are the Crown’s suggested addition. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   And you would be able to supply us with a colour? 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I am happy to do that, sir, absolutely. 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I think we can probably print it here, because I think we have 

got a colour printer? 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes, we can. 35 
 
MR RADICH:   Okay, so, but the short point is that it is more easy to see with 

the colour, but the double underlining are the Crown’s suggested 
additions at that early point, and that was before the, that was in a 
preliminary way before the subsequent work of the expert caucusing on 40 
the 22nd, but they are maintained.  We have got copies now.  We will 
make them available to you at the break – they actually are here. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 45 
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MR RADICH:   So, one of the additions if I am going, and I have gone back 
now to the clean version that we were working off, so this document 
starts with a heading “recovery” then it has got an objective enabling 
recovery and one of the Crown’s suggested additions was at the 
beginning of that objective enabling recovery, where it says “an 5 
efficient and timely recovery”, the words “which meets the 
community’s immediate needs and which provides a solid foundation 
etc”, so that was just making the point that recovery has inherent within 
the definition of it in the, and under the Act, the need for some more 
urgent work and then ongoing work. 10 

 
 Now, the next provision – policy resource management processes, is a 

provision that is supported by the Crown, and this gives rise to the 
point when one looks at subparagraph a roman 3 of that policy, raises 
the point made by my learned friend for the Council in the submissions 15 
for the Council at 7.6 and this, I think, is the point made by your 
Honour, Judge Hassan. 

 
  [11.25 am] 
 20 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is (b), roman numeral?  
 
MR RADICH:   Sorry, (b)3. And these, when one looks at the Council 

submissions, come out at 7.6 to 7.10 and in the points that are made 
there for the Council is that these process provisions should not just 25 
replicate the minister’s expectations, it should clearly provide drafting 
guidance rather than having substantive effect. And down to 7.8, the 
point is made there that expect to the extent if the District Plan 
specifies no notification or limited notification, the notification tests are 
prescribed by sections 95 to 95(e) of the RMA. And you could not have 30 
something that cut across that statutory duty and therefore gave rise to 
the prospect of some appeal or a judicial review. And the point – and I 
was just bringing up the Resource Management Act - - -  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I have got mine on section 75 to start with, subsection 1. 35 

In light of this drafting, I am not sure whether I have misread the 
Council submission, but the statutory purpose of a rule is to implement 
policies of the plan, according to section 75(1) at least. 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 40 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So in terms of the statutory purpose of a rule, it would not 

offend that statutory purpose to have policies related to the rule so that 
the rule could implement them? 

 45 
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MR RADICH:   No, and I agree with that point, sir, and I think the point is that 
– and I understand my learned friend Mr Winchester’s point that when 
we are looking at notification in particular, I think his concerns relates 
primarily here to subparagraph (b)3 in this process provision, the 
requirements for notification and written approval, and that is to say 5 
minimising the requirements for notification.  

 
 And certainly when one looks, for example, at section 95 – if we look 

at the notification provisions – section 95(a)(1), the words – for those 
members of the panel that do not have it in front of them – are these:  10 

 
 “A consent authority may, in its discretion, decide whether to publicly 

notify an application for resource consent for an activity”. Now that is 
the starting and overriding discretion. And of course one comes down 
for example to 95(A)(2), “must publicly notify if it decides the activity 15 
will have/is likely to have adverse effects that are more than minor”. 
That is just one of them, for example.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on that; so I mean my point is a relatively small one, 

but I am wondering whether there could be a nod given in this policy to 20 
the plan developing, for instance, policies in regard to the evaluation of 
effects for the purposes of forming judgements as to whether or not 
they are minor. Because of course in every other context a plan does 
give that guidance to the Council’s judgement on what is minor. 

 25 
MR RADICH:   That is very true, sir, and I agree with that.  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   That is the purpose of planning in my mind. And without 

that we are just left with section 5(2)(c) and whatever it means “in the 
discretion of an individual decision maker”, that might get off-side with 30 
Mr Bartlett from time-to-time.  

 
MR RADICH:   I agree with that entirely, sir. And I think just to move to the 

point Mr Winchester was making as well, which overlaps with that, 
that of course there is the need under the Act to assess whether effects 35 
are no more than minor. And one does that in accordance with the 
statutory language. There can be some assistance given in the plan 
towards assessing that and I do not think there is any issue with that. 
And I do not think there could be any issue with, if one is concerned 
about judicial review or appeals, with the use by a decision-maker of a 40 
provision to that end. 

 
 But the other benefit of subparagraph b(III) of this proposed policy is 

that, if one believes that adverse effects are in fact minor, then there is 
that residual discretion, that overriding discretion in 95(A)(1) that will 45 
be influenced by this policy and I think that is an important thing. And 
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this is saying that, okay, if you are looking at a proposal, you are not so 
concerned about the effects and there are no other reasons under 95A 
that you would want to notify it, looking at the discretion. Whereas 
there, sometimes in a conservative approach, might be a view that there 
should be notification nonetheless. 5 

 
  [11.30 am] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But if we take an independent commissioner that has been 

brought in to deal with an application and they are delegated to make 10 
that discretionary judgement on the part of Council, would it not be 
helpful in terms of a leadership model of the plan, for the plan to give 
policy direction so that is not an unguided missile that applies at that 
discretionary stage? 

 15 
MR RADICH:   I think very helpful indeed, sir. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Could I just follow up on that, can you just explain to me 20 

Mr Radich then, in terms of section 95A subsection 3, you were 
pointing out about the minor threshold, if you like, for public 
notification? 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 25 
 
DR MITCHELL:   But does it not in section 95A(3) say that, notwithstanding 

the policy question, that a rule can say that public notification of certain 
types of applications need not be publicly notified irrespective of the 
scale of effects? 30 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, absolutely.   
 
DR MITCHELL:   That is correct, isn’t it? 
 35 
MR RADICH:   That is absolutely correct, sir, yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   So if we said, for example, just hypothetically, that no 

application relating to expansion of KACs within their existing 
footprint requires public notification, it would be quite legitimate, (a) to 40 
say that, and (b) to have a policy framework overarching it that led us 
to that conclusion, and I mean nothing by that as a specific example 
that we have even turned our mind to, but just using it because it was 
topical this morning. We could do both of those things, could we not? 

 45 
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MR RADICH:   Yes, you could do both of those things, and I think this is 
where this particular part of the statement of expectations does two 
things. As you say, first of all, it assists in the approach the Panel might 
take and the parties might take towards drafting future provisions, 
using that hypothetical approach, and secondly it enables there to be a 5 
provision as well, such as that which has been proposed here, which 
emphasises when there is discretion exercised in the future by other 
decision-makers, whether it is a Council planning officer deciding 
whether to notify, whether it is a hearing commissioner, it directs that 
person towards reducing notification towards reducing the red tape, if I 10 
can put it that way. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Okay, no, that is fine. Thank you. 
 
MS DAWSON:   We have sort of covered three different aspects, if you like, 15 

and one is the aspect that Dr Mitchell has just referred to, which is a 
policy saying that the plan will – maybe it is minimising the 
requirements for notification, it is possibly maximising the 
requirements in the statements in the plan about non-notification, so 
that the plan can actually minimise notification by saying things will be 20 
non-notified. 

 
 The second one is the policy that will direct people who are exercising 

that overarching judgement in the end, whether it is notified or not, 
regardless of the test. 25 

 
 Then the third one is the one that Judge Hassan has referred to, is 

perhaps a policy saying that the plan will seek to provide clear 
guidance regarding where effects are no more than minor. 

 30 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, that is very helpful. 
 
MS DAWSON:   So there is a sort of overriding policy that says this plan will 

do that, it will help people in making those decisions by providing 
clarity. 35 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I am obliged to you for that, ma’am, because it does do 

those three things. There might be others, but I think it achieves equally 
those three things, and I do not think that we can or should say that it is 
just one of them, it is just the plan drafting in the future that this 40 
provision is directed to. I think it has that overriding effect, that real 
clear direction, please do everything you can to reduce, for example, 
reliance on consenting processes and notification and do everything 
you can, I think, encompasses each of the three things you have 
mentioned. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, thank you, Mr Radich. We will just take a pause 

there for 15 minutes for the morning adjournment. 
 5 
ADJOURNED  [11.34 am] 
 
RESUMED [11.50 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, Mr Radich. 10 
 
MR RADICH:   Thank you, your Honour. 
 
 Just two tidy up matters arising from matters earlier, one is to hand out 

a copy of the coloured version of the Crown’s suggested mark-ups, that 15 
is the first set. Now, these are, we just happened to have them here, 
they are attached to another copy of the Crown’s submissions. They are 
all stapled together sorry, so there is a bit more paper but they are at the 
back. 

 20 
 The second point was in relation to the ire service’s request that there 

be some mention of the policy, or the code of practice, in fact the place 
at which that best comes and which was submitted through or given in 
evidence through Ms Ainsley McLeod, is in the 3.4.4(1), effectively as 
part of the issues in the earlier part of the proposal. So 3.4.4(1), and I 25 
do not expect you to have it at hand, but in exhibit 1, which was the 
Timms version of the proposal, there was the mark-up, and I will just 
read it to you so as to save you getting it out in that version 3.4.4(1)(a), 
and it said: “This includes high quality of the districts drinking water 
supplies, particularly within urban Christchurch and water supply for 30 
firefighting purposes consistent with the New Zealand fire service 
firefighting water suppliers code of practice”, and it gives the reference 
to that document.  

 
 So that was the change sought, sir, and I do note as well that in passing, 35 

and with support, that the very – or the second to last page of the clean 
version of the caucusing document includes also at the very end under 
the objective on page 7, amenity health and safety, a policy headed 
public safety, and that is ensure that provision is made for emergency 
service access and firefighting capability, which of course is supported. 40 

 
 Now, just returning then to the first page of the caucusing objectives 

and policy document, the Crown had in its version sought an addition 
under the second policy, policy housing capacity, just to line up with 
some of the wording in the statement of expectations to add the words 45 
after the year 2028 there, by providing for a wide range of housing 
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types and locations and through a combination of residential 
intensification et cetera, those words were suggested. 

 
 The next policy down in this document, commercial and industrial, the 

Crown was seeking the addition of some words in the second line, and 5 
just to pick up midway through that sentence, and long term economic 
and employment growth through, and adding the words ensuring 
sufficient and suitable development capacity for land and through 
enabling, and I think it is probably in a syntax sense, the word the, 
enabling the rebuilding of existing business areas, the revitalising of 10 
centres, and I think these words, and through provision where 
appropriate in greenfield areas, they were the words sought by the 
Crown. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   You have got ‘development where appropriate’, you mean 15 

provision? 
 
MR RADICH:   In fact, yes, thank you, your Honour, in the clean version that 

is come out there was a word missing all together, I had development 
and this one has come through with provision, I think provision is fine. 20 
I think provision is what was intended.  

 
  [11.55 am] 
 
 Looking again at the clean version over the page, policy, temporary 25 

recovery activities and the, at “b”, providing for additional housing and 
accommodation, and I think just to make sense of this particular 
sentence, I’m just having a look at the original version, yes, providing 
additional housing and accommodation – I just struggled with the 
sentence a bit and I wonder if these words would make it better, 30 
“providing for additional housing, accommodation and opportunities 
for business,”, I just wonder if that was a typo there “services and 
community facilities”, and then the words “that have been displaced as 
a consequence”. 

 35 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Just wondering, just while you’re there on that one, 

there’s a couple of references “displaced as a consequence of 
Canterbury earthquakes by”, yes, perhaps there is an ability to even 
further refine that to avoid that repetition, because that brings it under 
those, that same phrase comes under B, does come under A- - -  40 

 
MR RADICH:   No, you’re right, indeed, that needs tidying, sir, for sure. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 
 45 
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MR RADICH:   Yes.  Okay.  So then there is an, the next policy infrastructure 
recovery, and then a policy on aggregate, I just think it’s possibly 
missing a word “the” – “and the associated transportation of product to 
support recovery”, the next heading urban form housing and business, 
there’s an objective on urban growth and form, then there’s the 5 
objective on housing, there have just been a couple of suggested 
changes for stylistic reasons in the Crown’s version – “which” instead 
of “that”, but we’ll leave that to the Panel to consider. 

 
 The next objective, objective “C”, business and economic prosperity, 10 

now the word “critical” there is the subject of some discussion, and the 
Council in 5.6 of its submissions raises the point.  If I can just turn to 
that – 5.6 of the City Council submissions. 

 
 From the Crown’s point of view the retention of the word “critical” is 15 

generally supported, but the planners have, and I know it has been the 
subject of some criticism by my learned friend, Mr Bartlett, but they’ve 
suggested a provision that the chapter is to be read with the plan as a 
whole and with some amendments to that to make that a better working 
provision as suggested by members of the Panel, but with that in mind, 20 
if other policies of the plan that have yet to be developed are clear and 
directive, you know, for example avoiding areas subject to natural 
hazards, then that would override a statement such as this – “if and 
when it was necessary”, and I think that the economic and business 
prosperity recovery is something that is critical, so the Crown would 25 
support the retention of that word, but it does note and understands the 
points made by my learned friend. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And you think that there is sufficient support in the 

evidence for that to go in there on the basis of the risk to recovery if we 30 
don’t have, in other words if it just says “important” rather than 
“critically important” it suggests that it can be a qualified concept, the 
evidence you say is sufficient before the Panel to support the word 
“critical” going in there given the nature of that evidence? 

 35 
MR RADICH:   I’m just thinking with my learned friend about the nature of 

the evidence we’ve had to date on that particular point.  In fairness, you 
probably haven’t had sufficient evidence to use that word if one thinks 
about it in those terms. 

 40 
SIR HANSEN:    Well there is some fairly strong evidence in this regard by 

some of the CERA officials, Mr Radich. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, no, that is, I mean the point is that the recovery from the 

point of view of business and economic prosperity has certainly been 45 
the subject of Timothy- - -  
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SIR HANSEN:   I suppose we could say “enabling the recovery is critical” full 

stop almost? 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I think that is a better way of putting it. 5 
 
  [12.00 pm] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   It is not just limited the business and economic prosperity 

that’s part of the recovery, is critical. 10 
 
MR RADICH:   I think that is the point. It is possibly just the place at which 

the word is used, sir, I think that – yes, no I agree with that. That is 
very helpful, thank you.  

 15 
DR MITCHELL:   Your Honour, could I just follow that up here, please? I 

mean as I read these provisions, Mr Radich, the word “critical” is only 
used in that context once in this whole provision. And just as a general 
comment, I would appreciate your comment, it seems that there is some 
subjectiveness in the drafting still, you know, it talks about ensuring, 20 
promoting, providing capacity for, critical importance of. It seems to 
me that at a future date there is going to be a massive debate about 
what the hierarchy of those words means. And I guess it seems to me 
that certainly in this relation to this critical aspect, they are much 
broader than relating to just this particular objective. And I would have 25 
thought, as his Honour has said, that the recovery per se is critical. 

 
 And do you accept the proposition that the whole of this chapter still 

suffers from vagueness in the terms of these various adjectives that are 
used throughout it? You know, whichever planners got the pen has said 30 
“I want ‘insurance’”, someone else says, “I want ‘enable’” – and I think 
you have created an implicit hierarchy that has probably not been 
intended? 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, and I think with respect to those that were involved, 35 

drafting by a committee is never easy. That from the Crown’s point of 
view, the things that have been achieved is the separation of the topics, 
the greater clarity that has been achieved, but the Crown would 
absolutely and wholeheartedly support any further benefit that can be 
obtained by removing those intensifiers. 40 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And I suppose the guiding principle was, we look at the 

evidence and see whether there is an evidential basis, might be one way 45 
that we can do it for the defining words.  
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MR RADICH:   Yes, that is certainly so, sir. But I think that on that particular 

point, I think that is the right way to look at it, that recovery itself is 
critical and there is certainly evidence about the importance of business 
and economic prosperity, for example, in the CBD as to those.  5 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and we heard clear evidence on, for instance, the 

proportions, the very strong reliance on the private sector to achieve 
what needs to be achieved for recovery and I would have thought the 
tenuous nature of that equation. 10 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Given what has happened in Christchurch it is almost 

unseemly to distinguish (INDISTINCT 2.51) 
 
MR RADICH:   That is right. And that was the reason for my hesitation, just 15 

the way it is worded there, I think. But that is a much better way of 
doing it, sir.  

 
MS DAWSON:   Because it does say, “its importance to well-being and 

resilience”. And we have had evidence about social issues, community, 20 
facilities and support, and to just single out business and economic 
prosperity as “the critical thing”, well well-being and resilience does 
seem beyond the evidence? 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I agree, ma’am.  25 
 
MS DAWSON:   Well, have we evidence that separates that out to a higher 

level of importance that all the other matters of the Crown address for 
example? Probably not.  

 30 
MR RADICH:   No, and that is the very point, I think, ma’am, thank you.  
 
 Moving down to the next policy, urban consolidation, and there are – 

my learned friend for the Council has made a couple of comments 
about this in paragraph 5.9 and 5.10 of his submission, which the 35 
Crown agrees. And there were just some wording changes, so for 
example, just to mention them as we go through, under the this policy, 
urban consolidation, subparagraph a(II), I think the words in 
“accordance with” are redundant.  

 40 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 
MR RADICH:   And then - - -  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   “In accordance with the”.  45 
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MR RADICH:   “In accordance with the”, yes, thank you. And then b(II) is 
unclear in its own right. And my learned friend quite rightly points at 
some of the difficulties in interpreting it. And just to read it, in part so 
there is that Residential Greenfield Priority areas identified in Map A, 
Chapter 6, et cetera. And I wonder if it is just missing the word “and” 5 
there. “And in suitable Brownfield areas” because I think my learned 
friend’s point was to say that it was not clear how that word – and I 
think that is probably what it is.  

 
MS DAWSON:   In one of the earlier version of this that was another point 3. 10 

There was a point 3 as “in suitable Brownfield areas” and I think that is 
just a drafting - -  

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, this has been cut and paste.  
 15 
MS DAWSON:   Yes, and it is merged. Which is the same as saying “and”. 
 
MR RADICH:   Right, that would make sense, ma’am, thank you. 
 
  [12.05 pm] 20 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Just on that one while we are on it. It says in parts of the 

Residential Greenfields Priority Areas identified in that map, it means 
in those parts identified in the map rather than a subset of the parts that 
are identified does it not? 25 

 
MR RADICH:   Thank you. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   What is the intention? 
 30 
MR RADICH:   I would say those parts. Yes, thank you, I think that is another 

point. That must be the case.  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes. 
 35 
DR MITCHELL:   Okay. 
 
MS DAWSON:   It just does not mean there is some vaguely different parts. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that an item from you Mr Winchester? Thank you. 40 
 
MR RADICH:   So moving on through the document to the policy brownfield 

redevelopment. Let me just check, yes, I believe that is right. On page 4 
the Crown has suggested a couple of small drafting changes there in 
subparagraph B second line “including the avoidance of”. It is just 45 
grammatical, it can be taken or left and then C, the anticipated outcome 
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to the amenity values of the surrounding sites and zones are not 
inappropriately or unnecessarily the suggested compromises that are 
there. 

 
 I am conscious of the time; I will be quite quick from here. The next 5 

point to mention is over the page on page 5, policy on business 
development. Now my learned friend Mr Winchester in his 
submissions has mentioned in his paragraphs 5.16 to 5.18 this issue of 
consolidation. So when one looks at the policy on business 
development II, the word “consolidate”, commercial activity in and 10 
around centres as the primary focus for the districts commercial 
growth. 

 
 My learned friend has made the point that, you know, the council has 

openly acknowledged the debate around whether there should be 15 
consolidation or intensification has not been had and there is not 
enough evidence to really use the word consolidate at this particular 
point in time. So there should be no reference to that concept here.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So what should the verb be? 20 
 
MR RADICH:   One could have a vanilla verb such as enable. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Or should it be favour? 
 25 
MR RADICH:   Favour? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there a bias intended? Well primary I suppose gives that 

bias. 
 30 
MR RADICH:   Well, and this is the related point and this comes out in my 

learned friend’s submission in 5.14 which is the concern about the 
interplay between the words under this policy there, “Primary focus” 
and then down at V when it talks about the central city as the “principle 
focus” and that is a concern I think when one is using words like that. 35 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And elsewhere there is a reference between “principle” 

and “secondly” is there not, or “primary” and “secondary”, which Mr 
Bartlett was raising concerns about. 

 40 
MR RADICH:   That you will find back a page if I am not mistaken, 33. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So is the concept of “primary” in II intended to be some 

sort of elevation above non-centre stuff? 
 45 
MR RADICH:   Yes. Yes, that has got to be the case. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   But not intending to try to elicit a line there between the 

central city and the centres themselves because that is dealt with in 
five. 

 5 
MR RADICH:   Yes. Yes and so I think two’s making the point that the 

existing centres need to be the focus and then at five there is the 
reference to the central city as being the principle focus for diversity of 
business, accommodation, etcetera. So certainly the Crown’s position is 
that throughout the recovery documents there is this need and I 10 
mentioned some of those extracts a bit earlier, for the CBD to be the 
thriving heart of an international city. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Except that why would you use “commercial” in two and 

“business” in five? 15 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Is this meant to, because again, you can see arguments they 

mean different things. 20 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, one can sir. 
 
  [12.10 pm] 
 25 
SIR HANSEN:   And I would have thought that if we accepted Mr Bartlett’s 

point for example, two could well read commercial or retail activity 
and five could read diversity of commercial. 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, and they could be taken differently, yes. 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So that needs a little more thought then? 
 
MR RADICH:   I think it does sir, yes, unfortunately. Yes, those two words 

you’re right. As well as primary and principle those two words could 35 
give rise to concerns. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So just in terms of the quality of evidence before us again 

and hearing Mr Winchester’s argument to come. Not enough evidence 
to elicit a line between “consolidate” and “intensify”. What about 40 
evidence before us as to “centre” versus “out of centre”, in terms of 
“primacy”? There seems to be an element of contest in the evidence. 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I think there has been some evidence on it but not in 

terms of the definitions of those terms, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Certainly a number of the experts favour a centres based 
policy or favour the carrying forward of variation 86 as a regime into 
plan of some form or rather modified in some way and then one or two 
say something else altogether. 

 5 
MR RADICH:  Yes, no, that is right and I think that that has got to be the 

subject of more detailed evidence obviously which will most certainly 
come but at the moment there is possibly an issue in the absence of 
that. But we can of course come back and revisit this and I think there 
is a need to provide for the type of sentiment that is set out at the 10 
moment in subparagraph V in terms of the central city because there is 
so much direction about the need for the central city to recover. So I 
think that is certainly there. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   But in our decision at least we are going to have to signal are 15 

we not that this is something that is going to be revisited when we have 
more substantive evidence in the individual chapters? 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I think that would be fair, sir. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   So that people do not suddenly get this in the operative plan 

and elevate it above a level it should be? 
 
MR RADICH:   Quite so, sir. I think that is right. The evidence we have at the 

moment looks towards, if we look at Mr Miskell’s (ph 2.04) evidence, 25 
the importance of the city and the way that will be developed. Mr Ogg 
was talking about, for example, the KACs and those centres and that is 
the level of the evidence that you have got at the moment. Certainly the 
Crown’s position is that there is a direction towards promoting the 
recovery of the city.  30 

 
 Certainly promoting the recovery of key activity centres as well 

because that is something that has been promoted by the council in 
certain areas, certain of them but not all of them. But the central city is 
something that is paramount and I think there is more to come.  35 

 
SIR HANSEN:   But certainly around the points Mr Bartlett was making, we 

do not have evidence of CBD retail and whether it is intended. 
Somehow it is not retail, it has a competitive protection and things like 
that. 40 

 
MR RADICH:   As to retail in the CBD, we do not, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Which is why I referred earlier that instead of “business 

commercial” is a better term for the CBD term which recognises CBD 45 
functions but again we possibly need more evidence around that. 
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MR RADICH:   Yes, I think that the words here that require some thought are 

“consolidate” and “primary” in two and business in five. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Can I raise, your honour, just a follow on question from 5 

that? 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   If the intention of V is to facilitate of itself the rebuilding or 10 

the recovery of the central city. Given that if you read the preamble to 
the clause it says “enable commercial and industrial growth and 
development to occur in locations where this would restore, reinforce 
and enhance the role of the central city”. 

 15 
 Is five not, as its drafted, not just facilitating the development of the 

central city but a lever to mean that any development in the centres 
other than the CBD falls foul of that objective? Is that the intention of it 
or it simply to be a promoter for a CBD as opposed to a bar on 
development elsewhere? Because my reading of five is that any 20 
development of a KAC would fall foul of V because it might be 
deemed to be in a location that does not restore, reinforce and enhance 
the role of the central city. 

 
MR RADICH:   That is a fair point. I cannot from an interpretation point of 25 

view disagree with you all, sir. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   The intention of it though is to provide a recognition for the 

central city. 
 30 
MR RADICH:   Yes, it is. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Not to be used at some future point as a weighing and 

balancing of whether a development at some other location does not 
promote the central city development. Is that how you intend it to 35 
work? 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   And if that is the case you would accept that maybe the 40 

drafting needs tweaking? 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Because as drafted it detracts from the whole overall centres 

policy. 
45 
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  [12.15 pm] 
 
MR RADICH:   That is right, and I’m obliged to you for raising the point 

because one could when one looks at the introductory words, quite 
readily say that a development of some sort anywhere else would not 5 
enable that, while the CBD at the moment is largely, or has little in it, 
any development may have difficulty with that objective, that policy. 

 
 So, yes, I am, as I say, I am obliged for that being raised, because I 

think that needs some further thought. 10 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   It actually competes with six. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes.  Yes, with the benefit of some further time. 
 15 
SIR HANSEN:   We are conscious of that, Mr Radich. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, sir.  All right, the next couple of points just to 

make quickly on the way through – infrastructure now is the next 
objective.  Policy two, just to make the point that there is no opposition 20 
from the Crown’s point of view to the international airport’s proposed 
bird strike addition to the policy they were wanting to have under 
policy two a new “D”, which would, and using the words from the 
submissions for the international airport, was reading ensuring the 
threat of bird strike to CIAL operations is minimised through the risk of 25 
bird strike risk activities.  I may have those words wrong, but there was 
certainly something in their submission they wanted added and the 
Crown doesn’t oppose that. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Just a couple of other things under that, my recollection was 30 

that there was, for understandable reasons, significant discussion 
around the underground infrastructure in Christchurch and how critical 
that has obviously become and I thought there had been some quite 
strong evidence to the effect it should be given specific recognition, 
and I thought at one stage there was also agreement that KiwiRail 35 
needed specific recognition, but I may, I am relying on memory here 
rather than have any transcript in front of me. 

 
 But certainly I think the underground infrastructure one has proved to 

be a very important thing. 40 
 
MR RADICH:   Well that is right, sir- - -  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   One of the Crown witnesses gave evidence – Mr Rouse. 
 45 
MR RADICH:   Rob Rouse, Mr Rouse, yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   I think that would be covered in policy one would it not?  I 

mean not fully, but policy one is for all infrastructure, whereas policy 
two is the strategic infrastructure one, and policy three is all 
infrastructure, it is just a matter of whether that covers it sufficiently. 5 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well we have just gone back to examples under a definition 

rather than a definition. 
 
MS DAWSON:   I think the strategic infrastructure is defined. 10 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:   And I think it includes rail, am I correct in that? 
 15 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I think that’s, that is right – I recall it referring to rail, 

here we are, it is at the very end of this document – page nine of the 
clean document you have got in front of you from the planning 
caucusing, there’s a definition of strategic infrastructure. 

 20 
MS DAWSON:   Well, strategic transport networks and if you turn to that, I 

think- - - 
 
MR RADICH:   It is a double definition reference. 
 25 
MS DAWSON:   There are a few of those. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, that would be right, ma’am, yes, yes.  So perhaps it 

comes in through that. 
 30 
MS DAWSON:   Well we can check on that. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, but certainly you’ve turned to your Honour’s 

point I think that it, that’s obviously critical, yes, that did come out in 
the evidence- - - 35 

 
SIR HANSEN:   I know that there is an example that people tend to seize on 

examples as “the list”. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, yes.  And really the last point in terms of this document 40 

was the point that we’ve already covered now a little bit earlier in terms 
of the urban design policy, which is regarded as being far too vague at 
the moment. 

 
 I think that really brings us to the end of the points that the Crown 45 

wished to make – just check. 
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 Yes, no, that does, so certainly from the Crown’s point of view the 

exercise, as I say, has been a very valuable one – it is obliged to the 
planners for the work they’ve done and very obliged to the Panel and, 
you know, while there is still imperfections, I think a long path has 5 
been travelled and I’m obliged to the Panel for hearing the Crown. 

 
  [12.20 pm] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Radich. Mr Winchester, just before we come 10 

to you, Mr Cleary, so we do not hold you after the luncheon 
adjournment, are you in a position now to respond to - - -  

 
MR CLEARY:   I am much obliged to you.  
 15 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you. 
 
MR CLEARY:   Just very briefly, the particular objective that I referred to are 

set out in Mr Bonis’s evidence at page eight, which is objective 
5.2.1(f): “and firstly that requires development is located, that it 20 
functions a way that is compatible with and will result in a continued 
state, (ph 0.35) efficient and effective use of regionally significant 
infrastructure.” And objective 6.1 talks about: “recovery of the building 
and development that has been enabled within greater Christchurch 
through a land use and infrastructure framework but achieves 25 
development that does not adversely affect the efficient operation, use, 
development, appropriate upgrade and future planning of strategic 
infrastructure and freight hubs and optimises use of existing 
infrastructure”.  

 30 
 I think the point I have made is that the existing development at 

Clearwater of a demonstrated track record, and that was conceded by 
Mr Boswell in examination, there is a demonstrated track record of 
being compatible with the operation of the Airport. And likewise 
Mr Bonis accepted that there has not been any issues to date, or there 35 
has been an absence of conflict to date and I would sort of go on to 
submit that the mechanism that Clearwater has in place will ensure that 
there is ongoing compatibility between development at the resort and 
the ongoing operation at the Airport.  

 40 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I.e. the covenant against complaints? 
 
MR CLEARY:   Yes, covenants, and I think there was a question as to whether 

or not – I think that was a question of Mr Bonis or Mr Philipps as to 
whether those covenants were actually incorporated into the District 45 
Plan provisions for the Clearwater resort. And they are not, though they 
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have been voluntarily agreed to between Clearwater and the Airport. 
But what Mr Philipps has suggested in his evidence, to make it a less 
ad hoc application of covenants that those covenants could be built into 
the rules in that there could be a requirement to have such covenants.  

 5 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Do the covenants apply to every land owner? 
 
MR CLEARY:   Yes.  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Do they apply to any periodic tenancy, lease holder or 10 

tenant? 
 
MR CLEARY:   I am not aware of any actually lease holder there at the 

moment.  
 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And what about with future development? 
 
MR CLEARY:   Again, I cannot give you sufficient details as to what might be 

proposed in terms of limited future intensification, in maybe another 
sort of 20 or 30 residential units. And we could not do that to lease 20 
holder or periodic tenancy (INDISTINCT 3.20). 

 
SIR HANSEN:   But is it correct that not every property within the general 

Clearwater boundary is owned by your client? 
 25 
MR CLEARY:   That is correct. But in terms of the land that is available for 

future development, that land in terms of capacity for future 
development, that land is essentially in the hands of my two clients.  

 
SIR HANSEN:   But the covenants are enforced in the sale to other people?  30 
 
MR CLEARY:   Absolutely, all new residents of Clearwater are made aware of 

the obligation entering into that covenant.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary.  35 
 
MR CLEARY:   I just wanted to, you know, given the self-evident nature of 

the importance of recovery, I just wanted to emphasise the point I have 
made in the submission is that that policy exemption that gives 
Clearwater some certainty, that it could contribute to recovery. So just 40 
suppose the question is, well, what happens if that exemption is 
removed in terms of our client’s ability to contribute? 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Radich, just one follow-up question I had. I did not 

ask you before, but our discussions cover all my other points really, but 45 
this one on the attachment of agreed matters document and there are 
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these agreed principles right at the beginning. And this is something 
Mr Bartlett raised with us as well and I have to say it troubles me quite 
a lot. Yes, there are two agreed wording things, to provide strategic 
objectives and policies for broad (INDISTINCT 0.18) however the 
plan is to be viewed as a whole – and then it goes on to say, the broad 5 
objectives and policies need to be considered alongside any others. No 
statutory hierarchy is intended. - - -  

 
  [12.25 pm] 
 10 
 I just wonder whether in terms of the Crown’s overall position about 

the clarity and the importance of leadership and precision and strategic 
directions that there is certainly another way of doing things and that is 
to provide direction that strategic direction is strategic directions. It is 
not something to sit alongside other things to be in a mix at the end of 15 
the day? 

 
SIR HANSEN:   The exchange the Panel had with Mr Bartlett? 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I support that entirely. So I had overlooked that when I 20 

was looking at the clean version, I am sorry.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   I wanted to ask and then put something on top of it. I forgot as 

well.  
 25 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I think that is a difficult set of words to use. And it is 

spoken with a principle - - -  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   It almost seems as though – without being disrespectful to 

the drafters – it seems as though the drafters were not aware of enough 30 
of the information or what they were doing to be able to make a call, 
whereas on a number of things, surely, it is important that a call is 
made about where the strategic direction sits vis-à-vis the plan, mum 
and dad and the kids.  

 35 
MR RADICH:   Yes, absolutely. That is exactly right, to the top of the tree. 

And certainly the Crown’s position throughout has been focused on 
that very approach given the need for these directions to be clear, the 
need for them to provide guidance, the unique opportunity, you know, 
the extraordinary circumstances, all of those things, from the Crown’s 40 
point of view are such that this chapter is pivotal and will provide 
direction to those other chapters.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you have covered that in your submission. But just I 

was thinking that that would be consistent with fixing that. 45 
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MR RADICH:   Yes, so thank you for raising that. I think the Crown would 
have difficulty with that principle being recorded in the document.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  
 5 
SIR HANSEN:   You have got some more follow-ups on it.  
 
DR MITCHELL:   I have just had one, the re-drafted version has four 

objectives in a swag of policies that we still have got to sort of order 
and sort of figure out what belongs to what, but that is fine. Just using 10 
as a for instance, the housing capacity policy, which, I am using your 
attachment to your submissions rather than the clean – that is on page 
two or three on your version in this respect. 

 
MR RADICH:   I have it. 15 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Is that a policy or an objective, do you think?  
 
MR RADICH:   That is a very good question, sir.  
 20 
DR MITCHELL:   And I use that as a “for instance”, because it seems to me 

that that is an objective to be achieved. It is not a policy matter, as I 
read it. And would you agree that that is right? 

 
MR RADICH:   I do when one looks at the statement of expectations. Yes, the 25 

expectation is that the replacement district plan facilitates an increase in 
supply of housing in that way. Therefore in my view that is an 
objective. And I can see the way the drafting has been approached here, 
which is to say, okay, this is under the umbrella of recovery and I can 
understand the logic of it in that sense. 30 

 
 But you are quite right, sir, in the sense that the wish to accommodate 

23,700 additional dwellings within a certain numbers of years on any 
view of it is an objective in terms of the ordinary meaning of that word.  

 35 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, and I will not belabour the point, but 

the resource management processes – it is on my page one – is that an 
objective or a policy about the so-called “red tape” provisions? 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Given the normal meaning of the term. 40 
 
MR RADICH:   I think the same point would apply.  
 
DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you. 
 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Sorry, along a similar vein, you raise in your written 
submission, or you did, but you did not cover it verbally, this question 
of how they have got the three objectives grouped; the one on urban 
growth and form, and another one on housing and then one on business 
and economic prosperity. And then there is a suite of policies under 5 
that that purport to cover all three objectives. And I think you mention 
and it seems a bit odd in that the housing ones should really be under 
housing and- - -  

 
  [12.30 pm] 10 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Do you still have any comment for us on that because it is- - - 
 15 
MR RADICH:   I must say that the preference would be to separate them out, 

and I can see again that perhaps this is the product of a compromise 
between the two approaches, and so that you’re putting a bunch of 
objectives together and having, as we referred to earlier, an uber-
objective and then having a bunch of policies under them, so it still 20 
suffers from aspects of that. 

 
 From, certainly if I can say it from the bar, a preference would be to 

separate them out, but I can understand a view that there are aspects of 
the policy that apply to more than one objective, which is the reason I 25 
can see for this approach being maintained. 

 
 When that part of the closings were written, it was thought that it had 

been out of order because of the way that document was put together.  
When the clean version comes one can see more clearly what was 30 
being achieved and so I haven’t pursued that point. 

 
 I think that the policies, subject to the concerns that have been raised in 

terms of some of the wording, and some of the intensifiers, subject to 
those points, the policies are relatively sound, I can see the way in 35 
which they overlap with the objectives and so I can, therefore, see the 
logic for the way that this has been done. 

 
 The preference in Mr Timms’ version at the outset was to actually 

separate them out, which I still think provides clarity. 40 
 
MS DAWSON:   I guess it is this whole horizontal versus vertical integration 

and it is possibly impossible to do that cleanly without avoiding some 
loss of horizontal integration- - - 

 45 
MR RADICH:   That is right. 
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MS DAWSON:   We need compromises to bundle a group of them, not all of 

them obviously, but a group together. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well the horizontal integration may require a level of 5 

replication of policy. 
 
MS DAWSON:   That is an alternative way of achieving clarity, I guess, whilst 

avoiding separating them out to beyond what the topics that they are 
intended to cover. 10 

 
SIR HANSEN:    (INDISTINCT 2.26) required to read the bit you are 

interested in. 
 
MR RADICH:   And that is the crisp approach if I can put it that way, which 15 

has a great deal of resonance with me in the sense that if someone finds 
having looked at the rules that they need to, the Council needs to 
exercise a discretion in some shape or form, they can then say what am 
I doing here, I’m looking at housing in that area, I’ll go to the strategic 
directions policy on housing and there it is, rather than having to 20 
engage someone to start to sift through. 

 
 This approach, I think, is a great deal improved on the initial version 

that was notified.  It ought to enable a layperson to go generally to the 
heading urban form housing and business and then just within three 25 
pages to grasp what they are after, and I think that is the reason I didn’t 
raise it again, I think that it’s sufficient because otherwise you do 
invariably need to become repetitive and that can detract from clarity in 
its own right, and so I can see how it’s been achieved this way. 

 30 
MS DAWSON:   And I mean, on a similar vein Dr Mitchell mentions, you’ve 

got this uber-objective I suppose on recovery, which of course then 
covers business and housing and community facilities, all of which 
then come up in their own, under their own objectives later on, it’s just, 
I guess, a matter of making it as clear as we can with as less repetition 35 
as possible, but-. 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I think that’s a very fair point, I think the recovery 

objective, the object of having a recovery objective is to go firstly and 
foremost to the point that there is some compelling things that need to 40 
happen. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Yes, so they need to be first and foremost about recovery, 

and then we have the other objectives and their policies later on. 
 45 
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MR RADICH:   Yes, as things start to even out insofar as they can over 
10 years. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 
 5 
MR RADICH:   Yes, thank you, ma’am. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank, and just one further question I should have asked 

before Mr Radich, just on, back to the topic of notification and process 
questions, at the moment where you have got a policy in this document 10 
as opposed to an objective, does the Crown have a position on whether 
or not that could be an objective? 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes, I think it could, yes. 
 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Radich. 
 
MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir. 20 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon members of the Panel. 
 25 
 The way I intend to approach things primarily is to track through my 

written submissions, the primary written submissions, it should pick up 
a lot of the matters we have covered this morning. 

 
  [12.35 pm] 30 
 
 You will note also that you have been provided with a copy of 

supplementary legal submissions which, regrettably, we could not get 
to the Panel in advance of today, but I will - - - 

 35 
SIR HANSEN:   No, we understand that. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:  Yes. One thing I will say as an overall comment, and I 

think it has been picked up by the Panel, is that – and I will refer to my 
learned friend Mr Radich’s submissions for the Crown, at paragraph 2 40 
he talks about there is a need for direction and gives a couple of 
examples, and I do stand side-by-side with him in saying that the 
process of caucusing has been very, very useful and the product that 
has come out of it seems to have resolved a lot of the conflicts and 
disputes. 45 
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 What I would say, however, is that probably because it involves 
conferencing of planners, some of the good direction that was present 
in, for example, each of the versions that you were grappling with 
Mr Eman’s, Mr Timms’, and the Property Council version, has been 
lost and there is a need for some of that direction about outcomes to be 5 
reintroduced. That is probably a product of doing things by committee. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   And probably time constraints as well, I suspect. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:  And a bit of that, but I think what it is going to take is 10 

the Panel Members deciding on what the outcomes you consider are 
important based on the evidence you have heard and being clear about 
that, and taking the pen yourself rather than sending it back. 

 
 In terms of issues such as some of the language that has been used, we 15 

have had the example of the critical importance of business and 
economic prosperity, that has been dealt with at some length in terms 
of picking winners. There are so many things that are of great 
importance in terms of enabling recovery or achieving the recovery 
goal and the Council’s very strong preference is that unless there is 20 
clear evidence about one of those factors being much more important 
than the others, then it is quite difficult to single things out as being 
most important to achieve recovery. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Would that submission, sorry, Mr Winchester, be also that 25 

if at a later stage, in light of much more detailed evidence, for instance 
intensification and consolidation is an example I have in mind, it 
becomes clear which side of the line strategically the plan should jump 
across, then it might be a case of revisiting? 

 30 
MR WINCHESTER:  Absolutely, sir. That is absolutely right, and that is one 

of the strengths of this process that this Panel does have that explicit 
power to revisit earlier decisions once it has heard more detailed 
evidence, and hence the note of caution in our closing submissions that, 
unless you are clearly convinced on the evidence about particular 35 
matters there is a danger in going down that path and, one, providing 
essentially a very clear direction as to what a future chapter will deal 
with and the message that it gives, or in the meantime having a 
strategic directions chapter which is in legal effect and may have an 
influence possibly unintended on resource consent applications about 40 
how individual developments might be treated in the interim. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   So the exchange we had earlier with Mr Radich regarding that 

when I think we were talking about business recovery and such matters, 
you would concur in, but across the board effectively. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, absolutely, and examples which have been referred 
to in our closing are aggregate and we have said absolutely important, 
but it was elevated to necessity, and again just have you heard enough 
information and enough reliable evidence - - - 

 5 
SIR HANSEN:   That concrete is a necessity for the recovery. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:  Concrete is, yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there concrete evidence though? 10 
 
MR WINCHESTER:  I fully accept that it is a very difficult exercise with the 

language, but in my submission there is a need for more direction if 
that is what the Panel’s task is, and one could certainly take that from 
the statement of expectations that there is a need for direction, and in 15 
our closing we have talked about the role of this chapter and the 
Council’s acceptance of the planners caucusing that this chapter is 
going to have effect and influence throughout the plan. 

 
  [12.40 pm] 20 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:  It should be expressed in that way, should it not? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:  That is right. 
 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:  So is your point, for instance, rather than a sort of third or 

fourth point that the planners came up, it was everything is in the mix 
and nothing has – I take it it is not your submission that we should have 
a global overall approach that strategic directions has an amorphous 
meaning. 30 

 
MR WINCHESTER:  No. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:  But when specific policies are supported by sufficient 

concrete evidence we should be cautious about setting the direction in 35 
one course over another at that precise level. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:  That is absolutely my submission, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   With the caveat that if it is felt we need to get a level of 40 

direction we may have to, in the decision, caveat that it may have to be 
revisited when we have concrete evidence? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:  I think that is the appropriate approach in my 

submission, and so I am in the same boat as my learned friend 45 
Mr Radich about this guiding principle which has been included, which 
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I submit is actually incorrect in terms of the proper role of this chapter, 
and it should be deleted because if this chapter is to perform its 
function and provide the guidance and direction, then we shouldn’t 
have an escape clause in there or a watering down. 

 5 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But what about going further than that and having 

something positive that says, in effect objectives and policies of the 
plan are to be read in a way that is not inconsistent with the 
implementation of strategic directions according to its objectives and 
policies. 10 

 
MR WINCHESTER:  Well, my submission is that that is an appropriate 

guidance note or appropriate recognition of the role of this chapter. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Again, if later on evidence at a concrete level proves that 15 

something may need to be revisited, it can be. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:  That is right, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, that is very helpful. 20 
 
MR WINCHESTER:  So I suppose just building on that, in my submission we 

have, in a way, come full circle in terms of some of the criticisms of the 
Council’s evidence and drafting approach in its original notified 
version of this chapter in terms of planner speak and vanilla language, 25 
and there is a lot of planner speak and vanilla language in what the 
caucusing statement has come up with, and in terms of the matters 
where direction is required, it would be relatively straight forward to 
provide that direction because it will stand out against the context of 
the language. 30 

 
 Now, if I can just turn to my written submissions, and I will endeavour 

to pick up the points that have been raised with other counsel during 
the course of the morning, and I will perhaps – I have covered the 
matters, I believe, that are set out in section 4 at pages 6-7 in terms of 35 
the role of this chapter and its structure, and I want to just deal with the 
need for recovery of the city centre to have primacy, and I will not 
cover this at any length.  

 
 The higher order documents, in my submission, are pretty clear about 40 

the role of the city centre, it’s intended role, and the need for it to have 
some special recognition, and in my submission the caucusing 
statement and what the planners have come up with does do that, albeit 
that there are some confused aspects, particularly business development 
matters that you have been through with my learned friend Mr Radich. 45 
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 As to the relationship between the city centre and suburban centres or 
other KACs, you do have evidence before you about, I suppose, the 
relative recovery needs and there is very clear evidence about the 
recovery needs of the city centre and it is obvious from your own 
observations about the parlour state of the city centre. 5 

 
  [12.45 pm] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well that might be obvious, but the question is “what are 

the causes of that and how are they addressed in the plan?”. 10 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, well there was evidence about its physical state 

and that’s possibly the most evident.  In terms of what that has done for 
economic activity, retail activity, social activity, it simply meant that 
there is a void there, there is not the physical infrastructure there, and 15 
hence there is a need to recognise and provide for that recovery of the 
physical infrastructure to in turn create the environment for the other 
important functions, or those very important functions that are 
recognised in the higher order documents to come about. 

 20 
 Some of that will be done through direct action on the part of the 

Crown, some of it will be as a consequence of private investment, a lot 
of it will be as a consequence of Council’s own activities, but there is a 
mixture. 

 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So when it comes to, for instance, looking at how we base 

a decision, it is true is it not, that part of what we can base our decision 
on is, well we have to base our decision on is in regard to higher order 
documents, so there is the question of evidence, expert evidence and 
what policy direction we are given by the higher order documents. 30 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, in terms of both the RPS and the recovery plan or 

recovery plans and recovery strategy and you’ve got statutory 
directions about how you are to, one, give effect to the RPS; and two, 
not act inconsistently with recovery plans and strategies. 35 

 
 In terms of the specific retail issue that my learned friend Mr Bartlett 

has identified, in my submission he is correct that the planning 
documents don’t specifically pick out retail as an issue, but it is a 
consequence of, well the role that retail plays is a consequence of how 40 
the higher order documents deal with the roles of the CBD versus the 
suburban centres. 

 
 And when you look at the recovery needs of the central city versus 

suburban centres, you have before you evidence that most, but not all, 45 
of the suburban centres have, in fact, flourished as a consequence of the 
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earthquakes and so in terms of the need for a recovery of individual 
centres versus the global need for recovery, those are two different 
things in my submission. 

 
 And it does place some weight and some emphasis on that retail role of 5 

the CBD and the ability for retail to recover as an integral part of the 
central city’s role and function. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   There was some evidence, was there not, to the effect that 

retail will not drive the recovery of the city centre – it will be a 10 
consequence of the recovery of the city centre and also a private 
submitter, Mr Rolleston’s view it will be the increase in population 
within the four avenues that will drive retail recovery, rather than retail 
will drive the increase in population within the CBD. 

 15 
 Do you suggest there is any evidence we have heard, at this stage 

anyway, contrary to that? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   Because it is a little bit, seems to me what I was trying to say 

earlier, that it could be read that we are trying to go back to an age 
when retailing was centred in the CBD which is not a reality any 
longer. 

 25 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, that’s, and I think Mr Heath’s evidence deals with 

that issue in terms of he’s looked at the Hamilton example, and really 
his issue is about providing additional capacity and centres for centres 
to grow beyond what they need to do in terms of servicing the needs of 
the surrounding communities. 30 

 
  [12.50 pm] 
 
 And so in my submission the issue is a need for effective control not 

only on the location and the size of KACs, but also things like floor 35 
area restrictions. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well those are the three things Mr Bartlett mentioned. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and I agree with Mr Bartlett in that respect.  So 40 

you have got evidence from Mr Ogg saying there is no need for further 
capacity at suburban centres – they’re performing well, they’re serving 
their intended purpose.  There is a need to essentially provide caps and 
constraints on growth at those areas in order to assist the CBD. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So it becomes that enablement, is it not, of the CBD rather 
than forcing retail outlets out of the centres? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That’s right, sir. 
 5 
SIR HANSEN:   I suppose it is almost saying though, is it not, that if I cannot 

open my store at Styx, I will automatically go off and open it in the 
CBD, or I am likely to go off and open it in the CBD and we have not 
had evidence on that and we are probably going to hear evidence of 
that sort later I would think, but how real is that?  Because you are not 10 
going to open a retail business in the CBD if you are not going to get 
people through the door. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   I can’t answer that, sir, because there is no evidence to 

that effect, but the issue- - -  15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   This is one of these areas where we may have to caveat it and 

come back to, perhaps. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I suspect that’s correct.  But you do have evidence 20 

about the need to support the centre city in all sorts of respects, not just 
retail and I suspect it is because retail experts have become involved 
the, a focus, and it has historically been the focus, is on retail function 
rather than the other important functions as well, but you do have 
ample evidence say, for example, from Mr Miskill about the important 25 
other functions of the CBD. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and in a way, if a policy choice is made in favour of 

the CBD versus the suburban centres, well that is a (INDISTINCT 
02.24) choice that higher order documents give. 30 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   They do. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is relevant, obviously, in the way that the Act 

directs? 35 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, absolutely.  So I understand the submissions made 

by my learned friend Mr Bartlett, and in my submission there is 
nothing in the document that has been produced through caucusing that 
gives rise to the concern that he expresses about retail having primacy 40 
in the CBD. 

 
 There is evidence from appropriately qualified experts about their 

concerns about the growth of suburban centres in terms of retail and the 
impact that that could have on the CBD and the pace of its recovery, 45 
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but that is not to say that they necessarily put the CBD up on a pedestal 
in terms of its retail role and function. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But we have got a problem in the drafting sense do we not 

with the choice of words like primacy, where is it now, the words that 5 
were being discussed just earlier on with Dr Mitchell in terms of- - -  

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Some of the business development policy? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, sorry, thank you, I was just trying to find it. 10 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It’s page- - - 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Roman numerals two and five and six, and five being the 

new one, principal focus in the central, and then we have got two which 15 
is referring to primary focus and then six which is different from five 
and seems to compete- - - 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   There is quite a degree of tension, and that’s probably 

an understatement in terms of-, and we have addressed that in our 20 
opening submissions and that it is quite messy as to how it has been 
dealt with and their pulling in different directions here and they are 
using language which is sort of the same, but different, and that needs 
to be clarified and it may be that there needs to be a, at the risk of 
disaggregating things a little bit further, a specific central city policy. 25 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   In a way five could drop out in that sense, but then it 

would need to be, we still might need to look at its content with words 
like “principal”, that is what they mean. 

 30 
  [12.55 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, I mean the message is important, and I think 

it’s not - - - 
 35 
JUDGE HASSAN:   There’s that choice of the word to use. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that’s right, sir. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Just on that, Mr Winchester, should the strategic directions 40 

be signalling proactively the need to recover the central city or should it 
be saying that there needs to be strong provision in the subsequent 
chapters that actually limit or regulate the out of CBD areas in a way to 
facilitate the CBD recovery? Because it seems to me there’s two 
fundamentally different approaches. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, in my submission it’s the former, Dr Mitchell, 
because while you have evidence about people’s preferences as to how 
you should go about it, that evidence is at a relatively high level and 
they are very much individual views and preferences. I would possibly 
say there is more substance to Mr Heath’s evidence, for example, about 5 
retail matters, but even Mr Heath doesn’t say that you should choke 
suburban centres, in fact he doesn’t say that at all. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   So your submission is that we should be sending a strong 

strategic direction about the recovery of the central city. 10 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   But be silent on the competition aspect, if I could call it 

that, between the CBD and the other centres? 15 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   I think that’s right, particularly as it relates to retail. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I’m just wondering if the bigger concern is the out of area, if I 

can put it that way, office complexes and parks that have sprung up and 20 
which, if they continued, would be probably the biggest threat to any 
recovery of the CBD, rather than retailing. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and Mr Osborne’s evidence is clear on that, sir. 

That is interesting, sir. 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Just how we express that. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and excerpts were quoted from Mr Heath’s 

evidence in the closing submissions about out of centre stuff and that is 30 
his concern from a retail perspective as well. 

 
MS DAWSON:   It seems to me, from reading the higher documents that you 

pointed us to, is that they provide guidance about the location of the 
key activity centres and that their extent needs to be controlled, but 35 
they don’t seem to take that extra step in directing that the range of 
activities or the scale of different activities within those should be 
controlled. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, and one thing you might notice if you look at the 40 

existing district plan, the operative district plan, they’re generally not 
controlled in terms of their overall scale, except for the Styx Centre, 
and that is because of where it came from in terms of timing and the 
issues that were confronted at that time immediately post the 
earthquakes, and I note my learned friend Mr Bartlett said that there’s 45 
12,000 square metres of office provided for at the Styx Centre that they 
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would surrender, well, at the time I can advise that that was actually 
sought by AMP or Calco, who were the promoters of the private plan 
change, because there was an opportunity, as a consequence of the 
earthquakes, to accommodate displaced office. 

 5 
 So things change very quickly, but I would submit that the issue of 

floor space or area constraints for KACs and suburban centres is 
something that probably will confront the Hearing Panel as we move to 
later stages.  

 10 
MS DAWSON:  But for now we don’t have evidence or higher level direction 

about - - - 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, there is neither, there is no higher level direction 

that - - - 15 
 
MS DAWSON:  In fact if you look at the central city recovery plan, it’s got a 

specific section that says they don’t wish to control retailing or other 
activities in suburban centres. 

 20 
MR WINCHESTER:   That was a conscious decision by the Crown. 
 
MS DAWSON:  For recovery purposes presumably? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That’s right. Despite the fact that the issue was raised 25 

and there was a jurisdictional issue there, of course, as to whether the 
CBD recovery plan could have effect beyond the CBD as well. 

 
MS DAWSON:  Okay, thank you. 
 30 
MR WINCHESTER:   So hopefully I have dealt with those issues around the 

CBD and around suburban centres.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, if you’re going on to another topic, given the time, we’ll 

just take the adjournment if that’s convenient for you, Mr Winchester. 35 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   We will come back at 2.00 pm. Thank you. 
 40 
MR WINCHESTER:   As your Honour pleases. 
 
ADJOURNED [1.00 pm] 
 
RESUMED [2.00 pm] 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you, Mr Winchester. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 
 
 I think where we left off was urban design, which is dealt with at page 5 

14 of the closing submissions, and there’s been an interchange with my 
learned friend, Mr Radich, about urban design in general, and I suppose 
from the Council’s perspective, in principle what is being produced in 
the caucusing statement meets its concerns, in that the issue has been 
recognised and there is an appropriate – for the content of the policy in 10 
terms of the matters it deals with is appropriate, the problem, however, 
is that it appears to be too vague and too general, and you will recall 
that the Panel asked Council and its officers to go away and think of a 
more targeted approach for urban design matters about things that are 
really important and that might apply in the short term and things that 15 
could then be reintroduced in the longer term, and the Council has 
provided you with at least a starting point and that’s in a memorandum 
of counsel dated 11 December, and I don’t have a hard copy in front of 
me. 

 20 
 Essentially what it does is add to the matters suggested in the urban 

design policy which has come out of the caucusing and identifies that 
from the Council’s perspective within the central city and new key 
activity centres and for medium and high density residential 
development during the initial recovery period through to the end of 25 
2018, the urban design principles set out above do apply for those types 
of development because, in my submission, there was evidence that 
that’s where it does matter, so large scale subdivisions, for example, 
getting important bits of public infrastructure in the right place, 
appropriately designed and located for new key activity centres, getting 30 
the look and feel of those public facing buildings right, and for medium 
and high density development, particularly where it’s located adjacent 
to lower density or established development, making sure that, one, it 
fits in and, two, it doesn’t have unintended adverse internal urban 
design and amenity impacts. 35 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I just ask on that one there, so by medium and high 

density you could mean, for instance, in an area that’s been zoned to 
allow for three units to go onto a title that would otherwise have one 
dwelling on it, that would be an example of that sort of development, 40 
would it? I mean it could be as small as two or three units on a section 
or is it - - - 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well, that would need further consideration. I don’t 

think the Council’s suggested wording necessarily gets down to that 45 
level of detail. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so would it be satisfactory, do you think, to have 

something like specified again in there, not that it – in other words just 
a marker for the fact that as the later provisions come through the 
inquiry process there’s an indication that it’s not all of them, it’s some 5 
of them and then maybe the wording is revisited again at that point but 
it becomes a targeted intervention. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That might be quite sensible in that it would act as a 

flag for the drafters of the plan and for submitters to be more specific 10 
about why they say the urban design principles should or shouldn’t 
apply to a type of development. 

 
  [2.05 pm] 
 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, for instance, I walk to work occasionally via Holly 

Road and Clare Road and those ones there that take us through St 
Albans and on and there is quite a lot of high density in those sorts of 
areas but they are established high density. 

 20 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And if anything there is a renewal going on in some of 

those from old high density styles to newer high density styles as 
opposed to the interface that might occur at a boundary of new 25 
development and lower density. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So I mean it is impossible for me to even conceptualise 30 

what might be specified but presumably if the Council means certain 
things and not others, are intended to be targeted? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well I think what is being set out as a possible 

starting point in that 11 December memorandum might provide at least 35 
the colonel for those ideas and concepts being developed further as we 
get into later chapters. But as a policy position in the strategic 
directions chapter, it does provide a degree of directional focus about 
what matters in terms of having or applying urban design 
considerations and what they should be applied to at least in the short 40 
term. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, I think following from the judge’s point that further 

down the track we no doubt will be getting more detailed evidence of 
the areas that are critical to be quite strict about. 45 

 



 Page 1228 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 07.01.15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And I do not read the red tape provision as across the board, it 

is holistic and an helicopter view and it may be in some critical areas it 
could be higher levels of regulation for some specified reasons. But we 5 
are not in an evidential position yet to make that so as long as we cover 
that off and caveat or flag again that it will be revisited in that kind of 
sense when we reach that chapter, would that sort of drafting cover the 
concern? 

 10 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well, I think it would in that I think the Council has 

considered the issues that have been raised by the panel and other 
submitters and has gone away and done that thinking about how does it 
or how might it approach the statement of expectations, particularly as 
it relates to urban design controls which are the bits that in section 32 15 
terms, the cost of getting a consent is justified in terms of the benefits 
that it provides. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 20 
MR WINCHESTER:   So that is very much where it is going looking forward. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And it would give us the evidential basis to do that balancing 

act? 
 25 
MR WINCESTER:   Yes, sir.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   With any luck, sir. You will see at page 17 of the 30 

written submissions we have set out for the Panel’s convenience. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Look just before we go there, can I ask you a question 

because I am aware about the efforts that were made around 
consultation and such like. And at 6.2 the community mandate that 35 
quality outcomes are sought; everybody wants a better city, everyone 
wants a more beautiful city. Was it any more specific than that? Do you 
want a better quality outcome for the city? Was that defined in any way 
or was it rather generic? 

 40 
MR WINCHESTER:   It was a little bit more specific than that, sir, and this I 

think is dealt with in Mr Theelen’s evidence. 
 
 Yes, it is around the Share an Idea exercise and the themes that kept 

emerging were high quality urban design and public spaces in 45 
particular, more greenspace, design led development, not sacrificing 
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quality of outcomes for the sake of recovery. So there were a number of 
broad but targeted themes that emerged out of that. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   The trouble is they are still very subjective, are they not? 
 5 
MR WINCHESTER:   I suppose when it comes down to the need to seek a 

consent or spend the additional dollars individuals might change their 
preferences, sir. 

 
  [2.10 pm] 10 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well we are probably happy to say we would like someone 

else to spend them to achieve an outcome, we would like but if we are 
spending them ourselves we might take a different view. That is why I 
say it can be fairly subjective. 15 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is right and this was and I am not seeking to 

belittle them, it was members of the community, it was members of the 
public rather than necessary, there was a huge cross-section of people 
who participated. 20 

 
SIR HANSEN:   It is absolutely critical that that information is available and 

that community input is provided for. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 25 
 
MS DAWSON:   Can I ask, I mean with the higher level documents, the RPS, 

the LURP and the Central City Recovery Plan. Again they all have 
some words about quality outcomes or high quality urban design. They 
might provide a little more direction about the nature of the sort of 30 
issues should be addressed but again they do not go down to the how 
either, do they? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, they do not. The RPS does not and even the LURP 

does not either. It simply says that you need to take a horses-for-35 
courses approach. 

 
MS DAWSON:   And be clear and consistent, clear and whatever, certain or 

improve certainty I think, yes. 
 40 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and it does foreshadow to some extent what it is in 

the statement of expectations around the need for regulatory control. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes, they are quite similarly wording. 
 45 
MR WINCHESTER:   It does. 
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SIR HANSEN:   Sorry, page 17 you were going to. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry, the evidence I refer you to about the outcome of 

share an idea is Mr Nicholson’s evidence, is that. 5 
 
MS DAWSON:   Could I just ask one related question? Can you tell me what is 

the state of the play with the inner city living part of the Central City 
Recovery Plan? What is it called? 

 10 
MR WINCHESTER:  The east ring? 
 
MS DAWSON:   No. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   I am aware that there may be a decision imminent. 15 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes, a decision imminent. Liveable city, that is the one. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   But, yes, has not yet been made public. 
 20 
MS DAWSON:   It has not come out, has it? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No. 
 
MS DAWSON:   No, but that is because there a lot of high and medium 25 

density residential potentially in that area. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Potentially, yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes. 30 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is right. Sorry back to the written closing. At 

paragraph 6.10 through to 6.14 what we have tried to do is provide 
some assistance to the panel in a generic sense about what the 
statement of expectations means as it relates to urban design. 35 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Your title for that section is somewhat misleading is it not 

because it is development controls and design standards not urban 
design controls? The statement of expectation actually says 
“development controls”. 40 

 
MR WINCHESTER:  You are right, sir. Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   There may be no difference or there may be some subtle 

differences. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, yes, I apologise and I expect I did not want to have 
the question spanning two or three lines so I tried to boil it down, sir. 
But you are absolutely right in terms of what the statement of 
expectations deals with. 

 5 
SIR HANSEN:   Do you see any difference between the development controls 

and design standards? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Indeed, sir, there is a difference. Development controls 

are probably your classic bulk and location requirements. Possibly 10 
activity lists can be regarded as a development control in terms of what 
is permitted and what is not.  

 
 Whereas design standards are possibly a separate category, what does it 

look like, what’s it made of, what sort of outcome might be being sort 15 
in an aesthetic sense. So unless there is any specific questions arising 
from that part of the submissions, as I say, it was intended to be of 
assistance to the panel. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   It is, thank you. 20 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Obliged. I want to turn now to the process based policy 

and I suppose it has attracted a lot of attention. I should emphasize that 
the Council’s underlying position is that it does not consider it is 
necessary, and that remains my submission, sir but there is full 25 
acceptance that here is a statutory basis for the inclusion of a process 
policy, it’s clear in the statement of expectations, and if the Panel 
considers it necessary, or appropriate, then it’s fully entitled to include 
such a policy, or indeed, an objective. 

 30 
  [2.15 pm] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   What about the RMA?  Leaving aside the statement of 

expectations, the RMA does not impose a legal impediment to a policy 
or an objective for that matter on notification, or is it the council 35 
position, no, it was one thing that was particularly interesting to me in 
the submissions you were making on this, and I wondered, I mean 
opening it up also to the concept of a process based objective, not 
simply constructed as a policy. 

 40 
 I read the submissions in regard to 95(a) to 95(e) I should say, and you 

head the discussions that I had with Mr Radich and Mr Bartlett, but you 
know, it start, with a starting point of the role of a policy under section 
75 to give effect to a rule and the fact that without a policy you have 
still got a discretionary judgement being exercised by the Council, 45 
indeed by a Council office on delegation as to whether or not it should 
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be notified so a particular application apply sections 95 and 95(e), there 
is nothing that I am aware of, but maybe you can help me, in the RMA 
that would make it legally invalid for the plan to express objectives and 
policies to guide and, indeed, direct that exercise of discretionary 
judgement in regard to the analysis of effects for instance. 5 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, I agree with you completely there, sir, and I can 

explain that position in further detail.  As to the content of a district 
plan, I agree with you there is no, it would be possible, it is not 
precluded to include a policy and an objective about how the Council 10 
goes about administering the plan, and how it might go about its task of 
processing resource consents, the risk which is the Council’s central 
concern is that such a policy may overlap or intrude into those specific 
statutory tests in section 95 to 95(e) and essentially place a gloss on 
that code that deals with notification, that it itself then gives rise to a 15 
considerable legal risk. 

 
 But, it’s all about how the policy is drafted and ensuring that it isn’t, for 

example, used as a basis for saying well, there’s a policy there that says 
we’re going to minimise the need for notification and, hence, when 20 
we’re assessing, for example, whether effects are more than minor for 
the purposes of the notification tests, we’re going to err in favour of 
saying well, because we’re going to try and cut down on notification, 
we might interpret effects or the severity in a different way. 

 25 
 And that’s the risk of- - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well a plan could not circumvent statutory requirements, that 

is the first point is it not? 
 30 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Which we would all accept, so your concern is it is not 

drafted in a way that may suggest that somehow or other it does 
circumvent statutory requirements so that the decision maker, or 35 
whoever, could fall into error? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That’s right. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Right. 40 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is the only concern.  As to the role of policies in 

guiding assessment or objectives in terms of guiding assessments of 
effects, it isn’t that orthodox to have such considerations come in to- - - 

 45 
SIR HANSEN:   We have not asked for an orthodox plan- - - 
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MR WINCHESTER:   No, no, sir, but it’s not unlawful either.  It’s not typical 

for Council’s to go and draft a set of policies or objectives saying these 
type of effects are the ones that are of real concern and (INDISTINCT 
4.39) an effect of some severity, it needs to be carefully considered. 5 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   If you take the restricted discretionary activity category as 

a rule, it can have a companion policy which informs how that rule is 
intended to be read. 

 10 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Because I mean it is reasonably common, or proper, for 

policies to be written which express the types of amenity, for example, 
that is anticipated in an area, which then gives a steer as to whether 15 
those effects are significantly adverse or not, for example. 

 
  [2.20 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is right. And it will come down to the way the 20 

planners constructed and drafted as to how much recourse one is able to 
have to objectives and policies to guide an assessment of effects for the 
purposes of notification. 

 
 But I would say a couple of things about that, sir. One, it is not 25 

precluded, and two, in this instance it may be quite helpful.  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Even though it may not be orthodox? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Certainly.  30 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So taking that a bit further, strategic directions could go 

down to a certain level of overall guidance anticipating or allowing for 
a more site-specific guidance being given in the context of particular 
zones and particular activities within the zones at that chapter-by-35 
chapter level. So effectively the pattern is being set, you know, 
direction is being set from the beginning, followed through into the 
chapters of the plan.  

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and that may be one way and quite an effective 40 

way that the requirements of the statement of expectations could be – 
as to clarity, usability, certainty may be able to be reflected in the 
planning text itself when it comes to notification.  

 
 What I was going to say about the role of objectives and policies that I 45 

have seen, when it comes to the notification test is that often when an 
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assessment has been made of effects in a vacuum and a planner or a 
consent authority comes to the conclusion that effects are not 
significantly adverse or sufficiently minor that notification would not 
otherwise be required is that it is often then that objectives and policies 
have fallen back on under the special circumstances test because the 5 
outcome would be either so opposed to the nature of the objectives and 
policies that that  is when those considerations are frequently applied. 
But that is not to say that they cannot have a role in the orthodox 
application in section 95 to 95(e).  

 10 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And in a sense it fits well with the concept of sustainable 

management as a purpose which has both outcome and process 
dimensions in a way, is it not? In the sense for instance that an 
unguided missile approach at a discretionary level by a Council officer 
about notification can end up with for instance the transaction costs 15 
associated with lengthy debates, big players and small players bringing 
their expert evidence into the equation to justify a position in the 
absence of objectives and policies that may have well have cut that 
away by giving a direction that the officer may have needed in the first 
place.  20 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, yes. And just one additional point I would 

make and it may not be that critical, given where I apprehend the panel 
might be going on this particular issue is that paragraph 12 of my 
learned friend’s submissions for the Crown talks about the use to which 25 
the strategic directions chapter is typically put. 

 
 It says “Plan users go to the chapter when they realise that resource 

consent is needed or that the Council will exercise a discretion through, 
for example, consideration for an application for a restrictive 30 
discretionary activity”.  

 
 I guess just in a broader I suspect the word “restrictive” is possibly not 

quite correct because you would not otherwise go to the strategic 
directives chapter for guidance on a restrictive discretionary - - -  35 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Because the restrictions would be expressed in the rule as 

is required.  
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  40 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But open discretion presumably it could, you know, for 

instance if the Council elected – sorry, if the Panel elects, I guess, in 
formulating the final plan to have categories of discretionary activity 
there is no reason why objectives and policies cannot also guide in that 45 
area. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely and that is where particularly in the early 

stages of this process the strategic directions chapter could have some 
value for individual consent applications, particularly to the extent that 
it signals a quite different direction from what is in the existing 5 
planning documents. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and in terms of the basic theory of resource 

management it is not always the case that the better outcomes are 
achieved by maximising participation. In some cases it might be a more 10 
professional judgement required to be applied.  

 
  [2.25 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   In some cases, yes, absolutely.  I will not deal with 15 

natural hazards or infrastructure. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Sorry, your Honour, just before you move off the process 

based policy, if I could just ask one question please?  You have said in 
your paraphrasing and in the written text that the Council does not 20 
think it is particularly necessary to have the process based policy or 
objective but if so you do not need to be careful.   

 
 Mr Eman has signed the caucusing statement saying that that provision 

is necessary by consensus of the planning folk so when you say the 25 
Council has concerns and the Council’s view is, what precisely do you 
mean by that, it is that an individual officer view, is it a political body 
view or a management view or what? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   I would characterise that as a management view, Dr 30 

Mitchell, and I think the evidence of Mr Theelen you may recall was 
that he did not consider that such a policy or objective or provision was 
necessary.  I think the question was put to them by Sir John that the 
Council does not think it needs a hint, well that remains the view, but if 
there is to be such provision Council will live with it and considers that 35 
there are ways of making it meaningful and addressing the risks that it 
is concerned about. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, okay, thank you. 
 40 
MR WINCHESTER:   Turning, if I can, to temporary activities in the 

caucusing statement the date of 2022 has been suggested by the 
planners and I suppose all I would say about that is that I would submit 
that there may not be a sufficient evidential foundation which is before 
the Panel to justify that date of 2022. 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Could I just indicate that we have discussed the decisions for 
the priority matters that we are directed under the terms of reference 
and we would be handing these down, I think, as a group but we would 
certainly be cognoscente to what we are hearing next week and the 
evidence around that before we would be publishing the Strategic 5 
Direction so there may well be evidence to inform us by that stage and 
I do not think anyone would suggest evidence heard in that next week 
could not inform us for this decision making process. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   It can and should, sir, in my submission. 10 
 
SIR HANSEN:   That was just to try and assist the concern. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and it may be then that I do not need to go any 

further on that because you will hear that evidence and there may be a 15 
basis for a distinction out to 2022 for some temporary activities but not 
all. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   We can see that and without prejudging anything I think it 

would be useful next week to hear if there are such categories after the 20 
evidence is concluded the mechanism by which they can be extended 
from both the Crown and the Council would be useful. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  The last substantive matter that is dealt 

with in the written submissions relates to this issue about how rural 25 
plans are dealt with, the position remains fundamentally the same from 
the Council’s perspective.  Obviously the question of the importance of 
aggregates and quarrying in particular has had some attention and the 
suggestion has been made about wording that the Council considers 
appropriate at 11.5 which sort of follows on from where I started off in 30 
closing about picking things out for special treatment. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   In the absence of evidence. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well there is evidence about the importance of 35 

aggregate extraction but the issue is that there is no evidence yet about 
other important rural factors, amenity factors to counterbalance that so 
to give it the label of necessity maybe going a little bit far at this stage. 

 
  [2.30 pm] 40 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Putting that to one side though, you would accept that we 

should be consistent in our use of terminology, if we use the word 
“importance” there, we should use it consistently through the other 
provisions? 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   That would be preferable, sir, and there is evidence 
about a number of matters which indicates that they are of real 
importance. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Yes, importance in inverted commas. 5 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Stopping short of being critical or 

(INDISTINCT 0.38). 
 
DR MITCHELL:   But we should be treating like with like? 10 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely sir, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   The final – if we are finished with that - - - 
 15 
MR WINCHESTER:   There is just one more matter on - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   The final section, I guess the query we had because we are 

very conscious of, if it is not on the plan, if it is outside scope we would 
have to go through the 13.4 procedure before we could deal with it, 20 
whether there was something specific coming out of the caucusing, or 
whether it was just the general prevalent view that did not address at 
all, as if 13.4 did not exist, and that we had a unfettered power to 
change? Which we are very conscious we do not. 

 25 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. And that is certainly not the Council’s view. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   But there was nothing specific that you felt that if we did want 

to make the changes sought by anybody that we would have to require 
the Council to notify and suchlike? 30 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   There is nothing obvious, sir. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   What about things that we have raised which might see us 

take a slightly view from the planners, or a different view, such as 35 
having a process objective? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   The substance of the issue is there before the Panel, and 

whether you label it as a policy or an objective, does not, in my 
submission, take it beyond scope. It is really about the substance of the 40 
issues and whether people have had adequate notice of the concern and 
the issues, and there is nothing where red lights start flashing that you 
are saying, well, comes from left-field, or has not been foreshadowed in 
some shape or form in submission. 

 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   It seems to me it is almost more an emphasis on the natural 
justice part of scope, rather than the, not straying into areas that are not 
before you etcetera, just to make sure everybody gets the opportunity to 
be heard? 

 5 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well that is a workable way of approaching clause 13.4. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I mean it is not that the test is two-staged, but just in the 

context of these hearings it seems to me that the major concern around 
that is that we do not start making changes that would prevent any 10 
citizen’s right of being heard on something? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, and I suppose the chapter will not have 

regulatory effect, per se, and that I suppose lowers the risk to a certain 
extent but where, for example, you might make findings and quite firm 15 
directions that will have impact on later chapters, then that is where 
perhaps there is an added risk. But again, there is nothing the careful 
use of language will not be able to deal with, in my submission. 

 
 My learned friend Ms Scott has just pointed out that there were a 20 

couple of issues around temporary workers’ accommodation in terms 
of the definition of temporary construction related activities that I 
probably should bring to the Panel’s attention. 

 
 Provisions agreed by the parties for the temporary activities priority 25 

matter include temporary raising or relocation - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Sorry, just what page from the clean copy you are going 

from? 
 30 
MR WINCHESTER:   Page nine. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, yes. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   So temporary workers accommodation is not dealt with 35 

in temporary construction related activities. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So that should be edited? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. So the definition should be amended to either state 40 

– so it is this sixth bullet point. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes 
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  [2.35 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Either the 12 month period requirement should be 

deleted, or substituted for a period of 12 weeks, and that simply arises 
from the evidence and the agreed position on temporary activities. 5 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that additional to the temporary workers 

accommodation? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes it is. 10 
 
SIR HANSEN:   There is two issues; there is temporary workers and there is 

(INDISTINCT 0.33). 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, correct. So the definition of temporary workers 15 

accommodation should be included as well, as a separate bullet point. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And what about the 12 months/12 week thing? 20 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It should be 12 weeks, or deleted entirely. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And 12 weeks was the agreed position at the caucusing 

meeting? 25 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   12 weeks is the agreed position. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Just while you are on that definition, Mr Winchester and I 

raised with Mr Radich a question around the way policy Temporary 30 
Recovery Activities was drafted, and if you just go to page two, 
concerned that there is an element of looseness in the drafting there. 
One of the things I wonder about is the phrase “as a consequence of the 
Canterbury earthquakes by” – which introduces the policy, and then is 
repeated in (b) but not in (a), whether in fact a final drafting could see 35 
that phrase removed entirely on the basis that temporary construction 
related activities incorporates it anyway? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   As defined, yes. 
 40 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and just thinking about that a bit further; would it not 

be better if the policy just related to one defined word, rather than 
adding another one? 
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 For instance, we have got “temporary construction related activities” 
defined, then we have “temporarily displaced activities”. That is 
something different, is it not? 

 
MS DAWSON:   That is a separate set of rules too . 5 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So I suppose that does raise a bit of problem as to whether 

that phrase can be removed or not. It just seemed very untidy, for 
instance I am not whether it is supposed to be in (b) as well as the 
introductory words, or whether in fact we can just cut through, just to 10 
try to reduce the wording on that. 

 
 Maybe later we can come back to it. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It can be simplified, but probably not significantly. 15 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   It is dealing with two topics, that is the main thing. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Is it, and they are two different sets of rules and 

activities. One thing, just while I am on points of detail. 20 
 
 In (c) of the clean version, page three, the urban consolidation policy, 

and in discussions this morning – I am not sure who it was with, may 
have been my learned friend Mr Radich about (b)(II), about the words 
“in suitable Brownfield areas”, in suitable Brownfield areas should be a 25 
separate (III) and it was as originally notified. It is just because it has 
come out of the earlier (ph 3.09) plan it has somehow lost the 
formatting. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And then it does not need the “and”. 30 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is correct. 
 
 All right, sorry I am jumping around a bit. 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   That is all right. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It is probably convenient at this point to deal with the 

issues raised by my learned friend, Mr Cleary, about Clearwater. In my 
submission the position advanced by Clearwater, with respect, does not 40 
overcome the very express requirements or language of the RPS with 
regard to the Clearwater land either being a Greenfield development 
area or a precise exception, and in my submission it is very difficult to 
look at the surrounding objectives and policies in the RPS even though, 
ideally, once you have read the RPS as a whole to overcome those 45 
very, very clear requirements of objective 6 – sorry, policy 6.3.5 - - - 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Roman number four? 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well I suppose the point is that the objectives would have to 

be quite specific to overcome the precise wording? 5 
 
  [2.40 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, sir, and I’ve traced back into the objectives 

of that chapter, and the relevant objective, in my submission, which the 10 
policy has flowed from is 6.2.1.10- - - 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Not the five? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Sorry? 15 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   No, sorry, just carry on. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   So it is page 50 of the RPS and it’s objective 6.2.1 

recovery framework and it refers to recovery, rebuilding and 20 
development are enabled within Christchurch through a land use and 
infrastructure framework that achieves development that does not 
adversely affect the efficient operation, use, development, appropriate 
upgrade and future planning of strategic infrastructure and freight hubs, 
so that is the genesis, in my submission, of the subsequent policies 25 
which deal with those greenfield areas and the relationship with the 
50dBa contour. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And the policy statement does not define development or 

new development? 30 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It talks about, just talks about development – recovery, 

rebuilding and development are enabled within greater Christchurch. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but there is, Mr Cleary also made the submission that 35 

what was, what could happen at, it is not giving him credit to the full 
submission, but what could happen at Clearwater was not caught by the 
policy because it was not new development. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well it is an argument, I guess, that has extended to the 40 

extreme of its logic, it would mean if you are putting up a new hotel 
there, it would not be new development. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That’s right, and the point is that the way that the RPS 

deals with the issue is that you’re either a greenfield development area 45 
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with rights or capacity for additional greenfield development, or you’re 
an express exception. 

 
 And, in my submission, Clearwater is neither and the way the RPS 

deals with the issue is very, very clear and so there is also policy 5 
6.3.1(iv) and it says in relation to the recovery and rebuilding for 
Greater Christchurch, ensure new urban activities only occur within 
existing urban areas, or identified greenfield priority areas as shown on 
map A unless they are otherwise expressly provided for in the CRPS 
and that you then put that alongside policy 6.3.5 and it is almost a 10 
closed loop. 

 
 So the issue would have to be either Clearwater is an existing urban 

area, and in my submission it’s not, or it’s not a new urban activity and 
plainly additional development out there is a new urban activity. 15 

 
 So, in my submission, the criticisms that were made of the planning 

witnesses who have analysed the issue, by my learned friend Mr Cleary 
were perhaps a little unfair in that, in my submission, the planners 
understood when looking at the planning documents precisely what the 20 
impact of those planning documents was, and that there was, 
essentially, a legal constraint which prevented or prevents on its face 
the merits of additional development at Clearwater being considered. 

 
 And I, while the planners have come up with wording in the caucusing 25 

statement which at least partially addresses Clearwater’s concerns- - -  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it ultra vires?  In view of the requirement to give effect 

to that policy? 
 30 
MR WINCHESTER:   It is a very clear and directive policy around new urban 

activities, in my submission, it clearly infringes that policy and to 
provide for an exception, even if it was otherwise justified on its merits, 
would mean that the Panel would run the risk of not giving effect to the 
RPS on this very specific point. 35 

 
 And no recourse to the surrounding context of the RPS really 

overcomes that, in my submission. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So in your submission, the compromised wording also 40 

falls foul of the same legal requirement that gives effect to the RPS? 
 
  [2.45 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, in my submission it does. And there is a problem 45 

in any event, on the merits in that, if you are putting the jurisdictional 
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issue to one side, in that it is rather uncertain as to what future 
development is intended or allowed for at Clearwater in any event that 
you would be providing an exception for them. 

 
 And I think my learned friend, Mr Cleary, this morning said there 5 

would only be limited intensification at Clearwater. It really does not 
provide much certainty in terms of the merits. And yes, it could be 
dealt with specifically in later chapters, but in some ways the horse 
would have bolted had the exception been provided for in the strategic 
directions chapter.  10 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So if something is not on the ground but it has been 

consented or it is a permitted activity that just has not been done yet, is 
it fair to regard that as existing development rather than new 
development? In other words, is it realistic that the policy statement 15 
would have intended to remove rights that were previously granted, 
prior to the policy statement coming into effect? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, that I think would be unfair. And in terms of the 

Hawthorn definition of the existing environment I suppose if there is 20 
some reasonable certainty about what was permitted or consented, then 
you could regard that as part of the existing environment.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but to the extent there is only ambiguity in those 

words, it is an available interpretation it would seem, in accordance 25 
with the policy intent that it is not excluding something that has been 
consented or which permitted activity status applied.  

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I do not think the RPS  intended to cancel a 

development right per se.  30 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   New development as opposed to - - - 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is right. Because it is inherent in the fact of 

existing development that you are able to possibly upgrade into or 35 
modify existing development. So I think those are my submission on 
that Clearwater point.  

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so just to clarify, so bearing that in mind, the 

wording that came out at caucusing, if we could find it again. 40 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Page eight. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  
 45 
MS DAWSON:   Six, of the clean copy. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, it is policy two, avoiding the effects of activities on 

the strategic infrastructure. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   “Specifically activities authorised within the open space 5 

of Clearwater (ph 3.02)”. That word “authorised” was understood to be 
via resource consent or a permitted activity rule in place before the 
policy statement came into force.  

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, perhaps I should just have a look at my learned 10 

friend’s submission on that point. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   I think he took a more expansive view of it. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Does “authorised” in that context mean permitted activity as 15 

opposed to something that might be – I do not know whether there are 
controlled activities because they are authorised, subject to conditions – 
what is the ring-fence on the assumption that you accept, as I 
understand, that you are not seeking to cancel existing entitlements? 
Both the caucusing version and the relief that the Airport have 20 
proposed in Ms Appleyard’s closing used the words “authorised under 
variation 93” or words to that effect. 

 
 By “authorised” is your submission that that is permitted activities or 

those which hold a resource consent? 25 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well, that would be my submission. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Is that your view? 
 30 
MR WINCHESTER:   I do know though that the planners at the caucusing 

session did not reach a concluded view on whether that was the case 
and they wanted to revisit what “authorise” meant at a later stage. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   I understand that, but your view is that “authorised” in the 35 

context that we need to consider it, is “authorise” something that is able 
to be undertaken - - -  

 
MR WINCHESTER:   As a right.  
 40 
DR MITCHELL:   - - - as a right, either by a resource consent or as a permitted 

activity in that view.  
 
MR WINCHESTER:   I think that must be right. 
 45 
DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  
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MR WINCHESTER:   And I think I have dealt with most of the issues and can 

probably turn to the supplementary legal submissions if that is 
convenient? 

 5 
  [2.50 pm] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mm. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   So the purpose of these submissions, I’ll start at section 10 

two, is to deal with clause 13.3 of the order in Council means in terms 
of the Panel’s obligations to identify which parts of existing plans are 
to be replaced. 

 
 At paragraph 2.1 set out the relevant clauses of the order in Council 15 

below, the first relevant requirement to the order in Council is set out in 
clause six, that the Council must in notification identify the parts of the 
existing district plans that are to be replaced by the proposals, with the 
replacement district plan and the Council did identify that information 
in tables, which can be found at the following website. 20 

 
 And I’ve got copies of the table in terms of the way that this was dealt 

with the strategic directions chapter if that would assist? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think it would, actually. 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   So you will note that some of the text is in blue, which 

indicates that some of the subject matter being replaced will also be the 30 
subject of phase two matters, and I’ll come to the effect of that 
particular overlap issue later in these submissions. 

 
 But, suffice to say, the Council has carried out its part of the exercise in 

terms of identifying the parts of the existing plans that it says will be 35 
replaced by the strategic directions chapter. 

 
 And I’ve set out there for the Panel’s convenience and paragraph 2.3, 

top of page three, clause six of the order in Council and it’s just worth 
pointing out clause 6.1(a) the Council must undertake a full review of 40 
the operative provisions of the existing district plans, so the effect of 
that is that ultimately when we reach the end of this process all of the 
existing provisions will effectively be replaced, so it’s a question of 
how and when. 

 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   But does that not mean though as you go along you need to 
identify the parts that are to be replaced? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 
 5 
SIR HANSEN:   It should have been, so where do we find that in the current 

notification?  Is it on the website? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It’s on the website, yes, and it’s this table. 
 10 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And so this is as against the notified version? 
 
MS DAWSON:   This is just for the hearing at the moment. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   This is just this hearing and there are similar tables for 15 

the other priority matters. 
 
MS DAWSON:   So on the website have they divided it up for, like the next lot 

of priority matters? 
 20 
MR WINCHESTER:   It’s by proposal. 
 
MS DAWON:    Yes, so- - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   When did this go on the website? 25 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   When the proposals were notified. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Right, okay.  The concern I am having is that the suggestion 

you make further into these supplementary submissions of deferring or 30 
delaying some parts, as I see it, would require Ministerial extension 
under our terms of reference.  We are required to give those decisions 
by 28 February 2015.  I would have thought we do, or we have to go to 
the Minister and say, or the two Ministers, and say “please, sir”. 

 35 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that’s one way of looking at it, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I mean we just cannot ignore the date. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, and it is a mandatory requirement- - -  40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   On what basis are you submitting, or is there a basis on which 

you could submit that we could defer parts of strategic direction until 
we hear those relevant later parts that could be impacted? 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   I am not suggesting that you defer determining strategic 
directions.  The issue is whether you can, as part of your decision, defer 
identifying those parts that are going to be replaced. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Under the existing plan? 5 
 
  [2.55 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Correct. 
 10 
MS DAWSON:   So Strategic Directions would become operative but there 

would be a mix of some previously strategic matters that would be 
replaced and some other previous strategic matters that might stay. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   There could be. 15 
 
MS DAWSON:   Because they address matters that are coming up? 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I can see the reasons for why but I hear the thunder. 
 20 
MR WINCHESTER:   I can go through the practicalities of that and it is very 

difficult to pick out some specific examples of caucus but there may be 
instances where to get rid of the existing plan provision and say it is no 
longer has effect or it has been replaced. 

 25 
SIR HANSEN:   And then have a lacuna. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is right or some issues in terms of the 

administration of the plan that create an attractable level of confusion.  
In those circumstances it may be sensible for the Panel to issue its 30 
decision and identify a whole raft of provisions which are being 
replaced and perhaps a number of specific provisions which are not yet 
being replaced but are being considered in a subsequent - - -  

 
SIR HANSEN:   The only thing I would like to hear something on is our 35 

jurisdiction to do that? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well yes, I was starting to worry about functus officio. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Functus officio, I do not think we have got power to issue 40 

interim decisions.  I think we should have the power to do these things 
but I am just not sure if we have and I am not sure it is something the 
Crown’s turned its mind to either and I am just wondering if we should 
not get some further written submissions.  I am sure Mr Bartlett would 
love to help us as well. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Is it because there is not chapter in the old plans that are of an 
exact nature? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   It is not a like for like place. 
 5 
MS DAWSON:   No, so you might get a residential chapter for example which 

has some high level objective which is of akin to one that is now in the 
strategic directions and that one should go but the rest of them, the ones 
that are at a more detailed level about residential that we have to wait 
until we hear a residential proposal. 10 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, yes, if we have jurisdiction to be able to do that. 
 
MS DAWSON:   To divide them up like that, that is right and to make that 

decision. 15 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   The more difficult situation in my submission, 

Commissioner, is where you have got something that is, where the 
subject matter is dealt with in the current proposal but the same 
provision of the existing plan is also overlaps or is dealt with in other 20 
proposals. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Which will be a lot of them I would imagine. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It could well be.  The risk or the issue maybe one of 25 

timing in that how long after the current proposal is the related proposal 
being considered and is it first of all open to the Panel to do it and two 
is it fair and appropriate for the existing plan provisions to remain live. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, or live for certain purposes. 30 
 
MS DAWSON:   Until the specific proposed relevant proposal is considered 

and would that cause any problems with resource consents which is all 
it would be in the meantime. 

 35 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, or would you having replaced the provision then 

have to revisit that replacement issue at a later stage. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   There is a question of what our authority is there because 

we have jurisdiction to allow for revisiting and effectively re-40 
notification if necessary of provisions that we may have looked at 
already in the replacement plan, but I am not aware there is anything in 
the order of accounts that allows us to do the same for the existing plan. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   That is the problem in that once you have made a 
decision and in your report you identify the provisions that you are 
replacing they are gone, they are partly revived. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well whether there is a sniff of an argument that it does 5 

not say when the time at which they are replaced takes effect I do not 
know, I am uncomfortable about that, but I suppose it is silent on that 
but perhaps that silence would still point you in the direction of saying 
as upon the date the Council have effectively incorporates the approved 
provision into its replacement plan, if there is anything that sort of says 10 
we can modify that to say the replacement occurs at a later date. 

 
  [3.00 pm] 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   To the contrary, sir- - - 15 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Clause 16.2 of the order in Council is a deeming 

provision, as I deal with in 2.7, and it says on and from the day of 20 
which a proposal is made operative under sub clause one, that proposal 
replaces any parts of the existing district plans that were identified. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and we probably are functus officio on telling you 

later on to replace provisions that when our decision is issued and our 25 
report has not identified certain provisions, we are probably functus 
officio on being able to identify them later on. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Potentially the solution, and this does not seem to be 

precluded, is that the hearing Panel’s decision directs a specific date by 30 
which the decision is made operative. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well I do not, that does not work either, does it?  Because we 

have got to, once we serve you with it, which is, we have got to do 
once we have made the decision, you have got to public within five 35 
days- - - 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   That is true. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Then there is 20 days for an appeal, and then you have got to 40 

then make it operative as soon as reasonably practicable after that, 
which one would have to read as pretty smartly.  I do not, at the 
moment, see any way through that gives us this kind of suspensory 
power we are seeking?  We see the reasons for it, but I am not sure how 
jurisdictionally in terms of the order in Council and the appendices that 45 
we can do that. 



 Page 1250 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 07.01.15 

 
MS DAWSON:   What if we said there were no provisions in the existing plans 

that needed to be replaced in order to make these sections operative, is, 
what would be the problems? 

 5 
JUDGE HASSAN:   My question in my own mind there is, well, one of them 

is- - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well we would be in breach of 13.3 if there were in fact such 

provisions- - -  10 
 
MS DAWSON:   If there were, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Because we are required to identify them. 
 15 
MR WINCHESTER:   Required to have regard to the Council’s list or 

identification of those provisions – you are not bound by them, you 
could reach a different view, but it would have to be done on a 
reasonable basis. 

 20 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So the list that, Mr Winchester, the list that you have got 

here, can I just understand this bit, in the middle column, are those the 
provisions that the Council identified would be replaced by the notified 
version of the strategic direction? 

 25 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes. 
 
JUDG HASSAN:   Okay, so, and did that include the additional chapter one, 30 

was it not, or whatever, there were those little additional bits that were 
added to the equation, so we heard strategic directions plus a little bit of 
other stuff, definitions were included, does that list there include all of 
those as effectively anticipating all of those going in? 

 35 
MR WINCHESTER:   Does not identify definitions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And not all of those would necessarily lead to the whole that 

you are concerned about. 
 40 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, that’s correct. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So we do not know which ones are going to cause a problem 

and leave a lacuna and those that do not, but at I, at the moment, I find 
it impossible to see because we have to make our own independent 45 
decision about this.  We have got to have regard to your assessment of 
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it, but then we have got to make our own independent decision under 
13.3 and once we have decided we have got to send it to you, you have 
got five days to serve in public, 20 days for appeal and then you have 
got to make it operative as soon as reasonably practical, right?  There is 
no facility for an interim decision, or suspending the onset of a 5 
decision.  One can understand, like everything else in this matter, it has 
been done so quickly that a few things may have slipped through and 
Mr Radich have you or your junior turned your mind to this and the 
solutions? 

 10 
MR RADICH:   Not directly, sir.  Thinking about it on my rear and now on my 

feet as you are talking, the only thing that occurs to me, and this is not a 
well-developed thought, so please bear with me, but if one looks at 
13.3, what you are to do having regard to the Council’s table and things 
that it has said should be replaced, is you are to identify the parts of the 15 
existing district plan that are to be replaced by the proposal.  So, in 
making this decision, you will be saying we make this decision and, in 
doing say, we want to replace or remove, therefore, these certain parts 
of the existing provisions. 

 20 
 Now- - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   I see where you are going, but I also see the problem with it. 
 
  [3.05 pm] 25 
 
MR RADICH:   Well, and I know that is the thing that occurs to me, so my, the 

thought is that you could say, not in this language obviously, but to this 
effect, we are definitely removing these provisions and in doing this 
work we are definitely removing these provisions. There are other 30 
provisions that are likely to be effective in due course by what we are 
doing, for example, these ones. And those provisions will be replaced if 
and when we say they will when we come to decisions on through the 
chapters. 

 35 
SIR HANSEN:   It does not deal with functus officio. 
 
MR RADICH:   Well, I wonder, because - - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Just take volume 2, section 4, objective 4.1, let us say, without 40 

any doubt that if we included that to be replaced by our strategic 
directions that lead to a significant hole for the Council to try and have 
to deal with in terms of the operative plan. How can we later say, now 
we have identified the parts of the plan that we are going to replace and 
six months down the track and say, “oh, by the way, there is another 45 
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one”? Even if we say we are likely to, as I read it, once our decision is 
sent off to Council, that is it.  

 
MR RADICH:   But I wonder, your Honour, whether you could be very clear 

that at this stage we can replace these provisions but we can see that we 5 
do not want to replace these ones because of the hole that they will 
leave, so that- - -  

 
SIR HANSEN:   So we would need to have another strategic directions hearing 

right at the end of the - - -  10 
 
MR RADICH:   Well, not necessarily in my submission, sir, because what you 

can do in terms of 13(3), will you say, for example, to the hearing of 
residential section, which of course will be not too far away. You could 
arguably replace some provisions now and leave some hanging there 15 
until that section is dealt with and say, right, now as part of our 
decision on the residential proposal we are replacing these provisions 
and there is a couple of other ones that now can go. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, now and one thing that supports your argument there 20 

is that the word “proposal” as plural, “proposals” is used in subsection 
3 and that singular “proposal” is used in 13(1)(c) below, which 
provides, I would have thought, a basis for that argument. If that one 
signals what could happen in due course, when proposals are all 
decided - - -  25 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, with respect, I think you would then have to reconvene 

a strategic directions hearing at that stage and make such findings and 
incorporate them and what you do with all the submitters on strategic 
directions and such like, I am not sure? 30 

 
MR RADICH:   Well, the only reason I hesitated on that, your Honour, is that 

13(3), if we think of it in operation each time you are making a 
decision on another proposal, enables you to say, as a result of our 
decision on the proposal we are considering now, these are the parts of 35 
the existing district plans that are to be replaced. And that can be quite 
incremental, I would have thought, as you go.  

 
SIR HANSEN:   I think once we are through this it gets to be relatively 

straightforward, because one chapter will simply slot in for another one 40 
and there may be some related things outside another chapters that we 
have to be careful we picked up, which are identified by Council and 
we will have to make our own decision on that. Frankly, I am not 
seeing it quite as simple to be honest. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one other thing I am not sure about at the moment is 
when we make a decision and the thing is approved and then the 
Council follows through with its timed requirement to then implement 
that. Then the legal consequence of that is that that thing becomes 
operative. 5 

 
MR RADICH:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is all set out in the order. What is the legal trail 

of effect for the existing plans expiry process? It does not, as far as I 10 
know, say we make a decision, which is then approved to expunge or 
remove, it just says we have to identify what is in effect removed. So 
does the legal consequence of a decision to approve mean an automatic 
replacement of what is identified, in other words, it is not a decision of 
the Panel that effects that, it is the effect of the law, the consequential 15 
effect of the Act. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, it is a deeming provision, sir. It is clause 16(2) on 

it from the day on which a proposal is made operative under sub-
clause 1, that proposal replaces any parts of the existing district plans 20 
that were identified in the report. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Under 1(c) rather than 13(3)? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and- - - 25 
 
  [3.10 pm] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So does that support Mr Radich’s position effectively as 

well? That we have in our report an obligation to identify things that 30 
this decision will replace possibly allowing though some flexibility 
under 13(3) to signal things that will be replaced in due course. I mean 
it is not satisfactory that we are dealing with it now. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   In my submission it does support Mr Radich’s analysis, 35 

in that it does not require the Panel to necessarily identify every 
provision that the proposal would otherwise replace. It simply requires 
the Panel to identify the parts. 

 
JUDGE HASSEN:   That are to be replaced. 40 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   That are to be replaced by that decision. 
 
JUDGE HASSEN:   Then that decision being made that way then triggers 

16(2) to have that effect. The report must also, you know, identify what 45 
could happen later? 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSEN:   But the question then becomes on what legal basis can we 

then trigger the removal under 16(2) of things that we signal for a later 5 
retention? 

 
MS DAWSON:   Because they all will come up. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Because they will come in or because they come up 10 

within the scope of a later proposal. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but there is no jurisdictional basis to do that. 
 
MS DAWSON:   To do? 15 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Just point me to the provision in the order or the 

appendicis that gives us that jurisdictional basis because it remains a 
decision that we are handing down in part and other parts of it will 
come into effect later. Now I think anybody making decisions should 20 
be able to do that given the very specific requirements about what 
happens once we give a decision. 

 
MR RADICH:   There is one point, sir, I wonder if Mr Carranceja might 

address you. 25 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, this might be a little bit of left-field but I thought I 

would just put it to you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well when I hear left-field I get nervous about the legality of 30 

it. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   It might be okay, sir, just a thought that occurred to me, 

sir, if I could refer to subsection five of that clause, sir. 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   Which clause are you talking to now? 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   So I am looking at clause 13. It is the same clause so it 

is part of it but the way I think we could interpret this, sir, is as follows. 
You see what happens in strategic directions proposal is you all make a 40 
decision and part of your decision according to schedule three, clause 
13, you need to identify as part of your decision those parts of the 
replacement plan so the original operative plan that, if you like, is 
superseded. 

 45 
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 Under subsection five of clause 13, sir, you do have that 
reconsideration of power and it is the power to reconsider any decision 
that has already has been made. And my interpretation is, sir, is 
essentially what you are doing is you are issuing a verdict.  

 5 
SIR HANSEN:   Can you go on and read six? 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   If the hearing Panel considers, after considering a 

decision under, sub clause five that an earlier proposal or a part of the 
replacement display requires change, the Panel may direct the Council 10 
to make changes of no more than minor effect or prepare or notify a 
new proposal. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well to completely replace a substantive provision it could 

hardly be said to be of minor effect so you would have to go through 15 
the notification. At least it is strongly arguable by somebody. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, I take that proviso, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Look I do not want to sort of put you on the spot because I 20 

have no idea what the answer is and it has only occurred to us as the 
result of a prehearing conference on another matter. I think we require 
full argument by written submission on our jurisdiction ability to do 
this. 

 25 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I think we have to be cautious. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   We have got time to do that now. 30 
 
DR MITCHELL:   I mean far be it from me to really know but would it be 

possible to say clearly existing policy A is replaced by the strategic 
directions chapter and for the purposes of our decision that where there 
is any doubt there is simply an explicit reference that says the strategic 35 
directions chapter is operative. It has extinguished these certain 
provisions, there may be some conflict between some of the existing 
partly operative provisions that are left and in the event of any 
ambiguity or not ambiguity, in the event of any inconsistency between 
the two the Strategic Directions prevail. 40 

 
MR BARTLETT:   The one theme crack pot I think it all comes down to good 

drafting. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   What about the vibe, shall we throw that in? 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Look, I really think we will invite counsel to file written 
submissions and given your other commitments, say a fortnight? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Just perhaps one point to reinforce is in 

clause 13.5.  I largely agree with my learned friend, Mr Carranceja, on 5 
what he is saying about it and when the hearing’s Panel is considering a 
proposal it may reconsider any decision it has already made on another 
proposal.  It is not necessarily reconsidering the decision on the 
proposal, it is simply identifying consequences. 

 10 
JUDGE HASSAN:   The consequences, and the proposals do not include the 

existing plans provisions at all. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, because you are not considering the merits of the 

existing plan you are simply going through a - - -  15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well then does 13.5 apply at all to what we are talking about? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well I am not sure that it does. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   Assuming for the moment that all the blue bits are replaced by 

things that we put in our Strategic Directions decision, what seems to 
be, what you are saying is that if that comes into effect in terms of the 
order in Council in schedule 1 there is the potential to be a hole in the 
planning provisions that the Council has to apply until we get to a later 25 
chapter. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   There is the potential, but there is nothing that precludes 

the Panel, particularly where there is an overlap between proposals, and 
this is where it is really going to become an issue in that a particular 30 
provision that could be replaced by an existing proposal could also be 
replaced by a later proposal. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   I would have thought the only way out of this is the fact that 

although it is not identified as a part chapter strategic direction there is 35 
also a part chapter, is it not? 

 
MS DAWSON:   It is a part chapter, yes. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   It is, yes. 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   That may be a solution to the problem. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester, what you saying there it is inherently 

going to be the case every single time along the way that there will be 45 
certain provisions that different proposals will share, definitions are a 
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classic example of it and to my mind that may well favour Mr Radich’s 
submission in the way why these provisions have to be interpreted. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   I think that is fine if it is matters relating to schedule 2 and it 

can be notified in such a manner but it is a part chapter of residential 5 
and strategic direction but I do not know that it helps us with other 
matters that are in part 1.  Are all of them in part 2 or is some of them 
in part 1 like residential-? 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, some of them are in part 1 but the issue is that 10 

there is no, in my submission there is no constraint on simply saying 
these provisions are replaced, these ones are not replaced yet and will 
be when we get to the related proposal and issue a decision on that 
because you are not necessarily revisiting your earlier decision on the 
proposal, you are simply going through a, not simply, you are going 15 
through more of a mechanical or administrative exercise of identifying 
- - -  

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well I am actually trying to help you, Mr Winchester, because 

you are the ones that are going to have to make it operative and if you 20 
only make part of it operative I can see it causing bigger problems for 
you than it will for the Panel to be honest.  That is why I do not want 
anyone to commit themselves to anything at this stage. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   The new replacement provisions will be operative, the 25 

issue will be - - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   If they are not being applied how are they operative? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   They will be applied, sir, it is simply that they will be 30 

applied as being operative - - -  
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Without anything else? 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   And some of the existing plan provisions - - -  35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Getting close to Soffer (ph 4.55) Street would be fair and I 

know that is not intended. 
 
  [3.20 pm] 40 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well, sir, yes, I can see that that might be the case, but 

it, what I am trying to do is provide a solution to a problem. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Look, I understand that – it should be the Crown’s solution 45 

because it is their order in council. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I understand exactly and I see the reasons for it.  I just do not 

want to put the process at risk. 5 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well, in my submission that could be a greater risk 

by the Panel identifying in a, I do not want to be pejorative, but in a 
wholesale sense, all of the provisions as being extinguished or replaced 
because they cannot be revived once that has been included in your 10 
report because the Council is obliged to follow your report and 
direction about extinguishing those existing plan provisions, and then- - 
-  

 
SIR HANSEN:   I think you might be obliged anyway. 15 
 
MS DAWSON:   From your understanding of the operative state of the city 

plan, or both plans, are there any chapters of those plans with their 
objectives and policies that are not reflected in a specific proposal that 
we have yet to hear?  Whether in the rest of phase one or phase two; in 20 
other words are we going to be left with a bundle of objectives and 
policies that are just sitting there that we cannot actually deal with in a 
later proposal? 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, one of the difficulties is we are all working from the 25 

point of view that there could be potentially adverse effects here 
without knowing whether there will actually be adverse effects. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Yes. 
 30 
MR WINCHESTER:   Well that is right, sir, and it may be- - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Which you will not know until we give you the plan to 

publish, which you have got to make operative, I mean it is chasing – it 
is very circular. 35 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   And it may be that the inconvenience and uncertainty 

by taking a more black and white approach and simply saying “these 
are to be replaced no matter what” and then going on and considering 
new proposals as we go along and gradually parts of the existing plans 40 
just fall away, will simply be a short-term inconvenience, and it is very 
difficult to say at this stage, because I simply do not know enough 
about the existing plan. 

 
MS DAWSON:   One needs to know those- - -  45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Now, well that is the difficulty in the-, the concern is that it 
could be more than just an inconvenience. 

 
MR WINCHESTER:   It could be and, undoubtedly, it will be the most high 

profile important matter that reveals it, which is Murphy’s law really. 5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Sod’s law it will happen. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Mm’hm. 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   Almost immediately. 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   So those are my submissions, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Can we request some written submissions on this? 15 
 
MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 
 
MR RADICH:   Yes, sir. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   Particularly on the jurisdictional point.  You do not have to, 

Mr Bartlett, but if you would care to bring your wisdom to assist us, we 
would be grateful. 

 
MR BARTLETT:   I will keep my foot out of my mouth today, but I wonder if 25 

other parties would also claim that should there be a timetable for the 
leaders to put something in the arena, and then a response by other 
parties? 

 
SIR HANSEN:   I think that would be a sensible approach. 30 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   The Council first, other parties to follow Council reply. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 35 
MS DAWSON:   The Council and the Crown. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well I think the Crown has got to take a bit of a lead on it, 

because it is the order in council. 
 40 
MR RADICH:   That’s fine, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And I think the Council within a fortnight, and other parties 

response seven days thereafter, as advised because your client might 
say to you, “we’re not paying for that”, so, yes, the Council and the 45 
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Crown have no option, but other parties may have different 
imperatives. 

 
MR RADICH:   (INDISTINCT 3.37) thank you. 
 5 
SIR HANSEN:   A pity we ended on a negative note, because we have been 

very grateful with the submissions today which, I think I can speak for 
the whole Panel to say they have been tremendously helpful – we have 
moved a long, long way from where we started, and it is obvious a lot 
of the concerns the Panel had have been taken on board and we are 10 
very grateful for that because that informs us that going forward that 
same approach will be taken and it is going to make everyone’s task a 
lot easier, so we are grateful for you coming back early, we are sorry to 
interfere with any holiday plans we did, but we are indebted to the 
submissions we have received.  Thank you. 15 

 
MR RADICH:   Thank you very much, sir. 
 
MR BARTLETT:   Mrs Bartlett acknowledges her indebtedness to you for four 

days in Akaroa, if that’s convenient. 20 
 
SIR HANSEN:   That has just gone on the record.  Sorry, yes? 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   One very small administrative matter, sir, and that is 

just to do with the natural hazards matter, a direction was issued by 25 
your Honour regarding expert conferencing, sir. 

 
 Now, the Crown filed a memorandum advising what it’s so called 

expert witnesses were, I just wanted to clarify, sir- - - 
 30 
SIR HANSEN:   Is the Crown acknowledging their witnesses are only “so-

called” experts? 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   No, because one person being called by the Crown, sir, 

a Emma Jackish, her, the intention of her evidence, sir, is more factual 35 
– it is to provide the panel with the Crown’s policy response to the 
earthquake, sir, in terms of dealing with natural hazards, such as 
identifying red zones etc, so it’s more a factual- - - 

 
  [3.25 pm] 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So she is not giving an expert opinion? 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   No. That’s just what I wanted to clarify, sir. 
 45 
SIR HANSEN:   So you want to excuse her from the- - - 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, please. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   By all means. 
 5 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MR RADICH:   As the panel pleases. 10 
 
MATTER ADJOURNED AT 3.25 PM ACCORDINGLY 
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